Investigation on the Effect of Menin on the TGF-β Pathway

Kim, Hye Jin

Hormones and Cancer Research Unit

Department of Experimental Medicine

McGill University, Montreal

August 2010

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of

Master of Science

Copyright © 2010 by Hye Jin Kim

Abstract

TGF- β plays a dual role in cancer: In pre-malignant cells TGF- β inhibits tumor growth, but in malignant tumor cells it helps tumor progression. One of the most important effects of TGF- β is the induction of EMT, which allows epithelial cells to acquire mesenchymal traits, allowing tumors of epithelial origin to become malignant. Menin is a ubiquitous tumour suppressor protein that interacts with Smad3 of the TGF- β pathway, suggesting a role in the TGF- β pathway. There is a possibility that Menin may act as a factor for progression of cancer by participating in TGF- β signalling. To assess its effect in the TGF- β pathway, Menin was knocked down using specific siRNA and TGF- β function was tested. Results suggest knockingdown Menin decreases N-cadherin expression and alter its localization. The absence of Menin also affected TGF- β -induced migration, suggesting Menin may play an important role in TGF- β induced tumour progression.

Résumé

TGF-β joue un double role dans la progression du cancer; dans les cellules pré-malignes, TGF-β inhibe la croissance du cancer, cependant, dans les lignées plus invasives, TGF-β promouvoit la progression du cancer. Un des effets les plus importants du TGF-β est l'induction de la transition épithéliale à mésenchymale, permettant aux tumeurs d'origine épithéliale de devenir malignes. Menin est un suppresseur de tumeur omniprésent qui interagit avec Smad3, une protéine nécéssaire à la voix de signalisation du TGF-β. Il est cependant possible que Menin agisse en tant que promoteur du cancer lorsqu'il s'intègre à la voix de signalisation du TGF-β. Pour évaluer ses effets, l'expression de Menin a été réduite en utilisant des siRNA. Les résultats suggèrent que l'absence de Menin reduit l'expression de N-cadherine and altère sa localization. L'absence de Menin affecte aussi la migration induite par TGF-β, suggérent que cette protéine joue un rôle important dans la progression tumorale induite par la cytokine.

Acknowledgements

I thank Dr. Jean-Jacques Lebrun for his help and guidance throughout the years I was pursuing this project. I would also like to thank my thesis committee members, Dr. Christian E. Rocheleau, Dr. Geoffrey N. Hendy, and Dr. Louis Larose who provided guidance and valuable discussions. Thanks to Dr. Stephen Laporte and Dr. Christian E. Rocheleau for being generous and sharing their valuable equipments such as microscopes and cell culture hoods. I cannot thank enough my colleagues on the floor for their mental support and help regarding laboratory techniques and in life in general. Special thanks goes to Nadege Fils-Aime, who provided me her scratch assay figures and who is such a wonderful friend to have around, and to Eugenie Goupil, Jimin Guo, Meiou Dai, Juliana Korah, Brandon Zimmerman and Marc-Andre Sylvain, who was always there to help me, guide me, and help find answers to all the problems I encountered in the lab.

Table of Contents

Chapter I:		Introduction	1
1.1	Overv	view of the TGF-β superfamily	4
1.2	Revie	w of the literature	5
	1.2.1	The discovery of TGF-β	5
	1.2.2	TGF-β and Regulation of TGF-β	7
	1.2.3	TGF-β Signalling	9
		1.2.3.1 TGF-β Receptors	9
		1.2.3.2 The Smad Proteins	11
		1.2.3.3 Non-canonical Pathways of TGF-β signalling	21
	1.2.4	TGF-β and Cancer	22
		1.2.4.1 TGF-β Inhibits Tumor Growth	24
		1.2.4.2 TGF-β Aids in Tumour Progression	25
		1.2.4.3. TGF-β and the Immune system	29
	1.2.5	Blocking the TGF-β Pathway	32
1.3	Overv	view of menin	34
	1.3.1	Discovery of MEN1 Gene and its Product Menin	. 35
		1.3.1.1 Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia	35
		1.3.1.2 Menin	36
	1.3.2	Menin Structure and Sites of Importance	38
	1.3.3	Proposed functions of menin	38

	1.3.4	Menin in the TGF-β pathway	44
	1.3.5	A possible regulatory mechanism for Menin	45
	1.3.6	Menin in other pathways	45
1.4	Objec	tives and Hypothesis	46
1.5	Thesis	organization	46

Chapt	er II: Materials and Methods 4	17
2.1	Cell culture 4	7
2.2	Plasmid constructs 4	7
2.3	Reagents4	8
2.4	Cell transfections4	8
2.5	Cell viability assay (MTT colorimetric assay)4	9
2.6	qRT-PCR 4	9
	2.6.1 RNA extraction 4	9
	2.6.2 Reverse Transcription5	50
	2.6.3 Primers 5	50
	2.6.4 qRT-PCR 5	51
2.7	Luciferase Reporter assay 5	51
	2.7.1 Transfection 5	51
	2.7.2 Luciferase assay 5	;2
	2.7.3 β-gal assay5	52

2.8	Immunoprecipitation	53
2.9	Western blot analysis	53
	2.9.1 Sample preparation	53
	2.9.2 Protein quantification	54
	2.9.3 SDS-PAGE and transfer	54
	2.9.4 Immunoblotting	55
2.10	Microscopy	55
Chapt	r III: Results	57
3.1	Menin interacts with Smad3 in Breast Cancer Cells	57
3.2	Efficiency of siRNA	58
3.3	Tumor suppressive effects of TGF-β	60
	3.3.1 Menin knock-down effects on TGF-β transcriptional activation	60
	3.3.2 Menin knock-down and TGF-β mediated inhibition of cell proliferation	1
		62
3.4	Tumor promoting effects of TGF-β	65
	3.4.1 TGF-β affects cell migration, cell shape, and EMT	65
3.5	Effect of Menin on N-Cadherin protein level	72
Chapt	r IV: Discussion	75

4.1	Positiv	e regulation of menin expression by TGF-β	76
4.2	The ef	fect of Menin on TGF-β mediated cellular responses	76
	4.2.1	Effect on cytostasis and apoptosis	76
	4.2.2	Effect on transcriptional activation of TGF-β regulated genes	77
	4.2.3	Induction of EMT	78
	4.2.4	Effect on migration	79
Chapt	er V:	Conclusion	81
	5.1	Conclusion	81
	5.2	Future directions	82
Refere	ences		84

List of Abbreviations

AMH (Anti-Muellerian Hormone)

APC (Antigen Presenting Cells)

CBP (CREB Binding Protein)

CDK (Cyclin Dependent Kinase)

Co-Smad (Common partner Smads)

CTL (Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes)

DPC4 (Deleted in Pancreatic Cancer- Locus 4)

ECM (Extracellular Matrix)

EMT (Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition)

GFAP (Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein)

HRP (Horseradish Peroxidase)

IL-2 (Interleukin 2)

I-Smads (Inhibitory Smads)

LAP (Latency associated peptide)

LLC (Large latent complex)

LTBPs (Latent TGF-β Binding Proteins)

MAD (Mothers Against Decapentaplegic)

MAPK (Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase)

MEF (Mouse Embryo Fibroblasts)

MEN1 (Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia 1)

MH1 (Mad Homology 1)

MH2 (Mad Homology 2)

MLL (Myeloid/lymphoid or mixed-lineage leukemia)

MMPs (Matrix-Metalloproteinases)

NES (Nuclear Export Signal)

NK (Natural Killer)

PAI-1 (Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor 1)

PTH (Parathyroid hormone)

q-RT-PCR (Quantitative Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction)

ROS (Reactive oxygen species)

R-Smads (Receptor regulated Smads)

SAD (Smad Activating Domain)

SARA (Smad Anchor for Receptor Activation)

SBE (Smad-Binding Element)

SHIP (Src Homology 2 domain-containing 5' inositol phosphatase)

SIP-1 (Smad Interacting Protein 1)

SKI (Sloan Kettering Institute)

SLC (Small Latent Complex)

Smurf (Smad Ubiquitination Regulatory Factor)

TFs (Trascription Factors)

TGF- β (Transforming Growth Factor beta)

TNF (Tumor Necrosis Factor)

TRE (TPA Responsive Elements)

UTR (Untranslated region)

Chapter I: Introduction

Cancer is a genetic disease that results from combinations of mutations in the genome. About 25% of the population in the developed world die of cancer (Jemal et al., 2008), despite the efforts made to cure cancer patients. Among various cancers a human being may expect to develop during their lifetime, breast cancer holds special (Derynck and Akhurst, 2007) significance for women; it is the most diagnosed cancer and it ranks second in the list for the most numbers of deaths (Jemal et al., 2008). Although it still claims many lives progress continues to bring down those numbers, and breast cancer rates have shown a drastic decline in response to improvements in diagnostic tools and therapeutics. An even deeper understanding of the mechanisms that cause breast cancer and its progression would be necessary to bring down the breast cancer rates further and prevent unnecessary deaths.

Cytokines, an essential component of cellular signalling, plays very important roles in cancer biology. One of the most important cytokines that affect breast cancer, as well as all other cancers, is a cytokine named TGF- β (Transforming Growth Factor beta). TGF- β is a multifunctional cytokine that is expressed in most cell types. It is a critical factor in development and homeostasis, as it plays major roles in cell growth, differentiation, proliferation, angiogenesis, EMT (Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition), migration, ECM (Extracellular Matrix) protein production and regulation of the immune system (Massague, 2008).

Despite the critical roles played by TGF- β in homeostasis, excessive TGF- β expression has been linked to many diseases and cancer related deaths. TGF- β is associated with increased death in pancreatic or colon cancer patients (Watanabe et al., 2001) and is known to facilitate cancer metastasis in breast cancer patients (Muraoka-Cook et al., 2004; Siegel et al., 2003; Yin et

al., 1999). Paradoxically, over-expression of TGF- β or TGF- β receptors was shown to impede tumour growth in numerous *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies (Cui et al., 1996; Siegel and Massague, 2003; Siegel et al., 2003). These observations are just a few examples that support the fact that TGF- β plays a dual role in tumour pathogenesis and can be used as an advantage to cancer cells when the pathway components or the players that keep the pathway under control are compromised.

TGF- β , in the early stages of tumour development, can limit the level of growth and proliferation, playing a protective role against cancer. However, in the late stages of cancer development, tumour cells selectively lose some components of the pathway, disabling the cytostatic arm of TGF- β . In addition to losing the cytostatic arm of the pathway, the remaining function of TGF- β pathway can be used to provide the cancer cells with several advantages. Cancer cells can become even more aggressive by going through EMT, a process that allows cells to acquire mesenchymal characteristics and gain motility, allowing them to spread to nearby areas or to metastasize to distant organs. In addition to promoting EMT and motility, tumourderived TGF- β plays an important role in hiding the tumour cells from the immune system and rendering the immune system ineffective at recognizing the tumour, providing a perfect environment for the tumour cells to nest and grow.

A deeper understanding will undoubtedly further contribute to developing novel therapies to treat breast cancer and increase the survival rate of those patients with aggressive invasive tumours.



Figure 1.1: The dual role of TGF-\beta in cancer. TGF- β can exert different effects depending on the state of the cancer cells. In the premalignant state, TGF- β suppresses growth of the tumour by affecting the tumour cells directly or by affecting the environment, preserving homeostasis and protecting the host from tumour. Mutations in the pathway results in loss of the beneficial effects of, and TGF- β becomes a factor promoting invasion and metastatic colonization. Adapted from (Massague, 2008).

In the following section, an overview of TGF- β will be given, followed by an overview of Menin, a protein that was shown to participate in the TGF- β pathway (Kaji et al., 2001; Naito et al., 2005; Sowa et al., 2003) and play an important role in the development of a life-threatening disease, MEN1 (Marx et al., 1999a). The focus of this project is to shed light on the

role of Menin as a component in the TGF- β pathway, either participating in the tumour suppressive arm or the tumour promoting aspect of TGF- β , in attempt to better understand this pathway.

1.1 Overview of the TGF-β super family

TGF- β is a member of the TGF- β family of cytokines, a large family that includes numerous factors with some more than 50 members (Yan et al., 2002), divided into two large subfamilies, one containing Activin and TGF- β and the other containing Bone Morphogenic Proteins and growth and differentiation factors (Kang et al., 2003; Shi and Massague, 2003). All the family members share structural similarities characterized by their six conserved cystein residues (Lander et al., 2001). The TGF- β family is known to be the main regulator of cell growth and differentiation, selection of cell lineage and progression along that lineage, and organ development (Derynck and Akhurst, 2007).

TGF- β family are peptide dimers that interact with a hetero-tetramer of trans-membrane receptor complex that has serine/threonine kinase activity at their cytoplasmic tail (Massague, 2008). The receptor consists of type I and II receptors, with type II being the constitutively active one that binds the ligand first, in the case of the TGF- β receptor, then recruiting the other and activating it by phosphorylation on the highly conserved GS domain (Yan et al., 2002). While this entire family of cytokines is named after TGF- β , TGF- β may not necessarily represent the entire family; this is especially so when mechanisms of ligand-receptor interactions are compared (Groppe et al., 2008). In contrast to the other members of the TGF- β family who

promiscuously share receptors, TGF- β interacts exclusively with only two receptors, TGF- β Receptor-I and II (Groppe et al., 2008).



Figure 1.2: TGF-β family divided into their two subfamilies. The relationships of the ligands, ligand traps, accessory receptors, receptors, and intracellular interactors are described. Adapted from (Shi and Massague, 2003).

1.2 Review of the literature

1.2.1 The discovery of TGF-β

TGF- β was discovered decades ago, in the late 1970's, when researchers were trying to identify growth factors that caused 'transformed,' cancer-like phenotypes on 'normal' cells (Roberts et al., 1980). The "growth factor" was isolated from the experimentally transformed cells and was named the transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) (Sporn, 1999). As the name indicates, Transforming Growth Factor-beta was initially considered as a growth factor, until 1984, when the growth inhibitory effects of the cytokine were discovered (Tucker et al., 1984). In the next year, another group found that TGF- β can have mixed effects even on the same cell line (Roberts et al., 1985). Also, it became apparent that the cytokine was not only present around transformed cells, but found generally in various tissues in normal, healthy circumstances.

Since the duality of TGF- β was discovered, many researchers have devoted their lives trying to elucidate the 'switch' mechanism that made TGF- β so unique in character. Although the exact mechanism behind the switch still remains elusive, some extraordinary progresses were made in the field, including elucidation of the main or 'canonical' pathway of TGF- β signalling that involves Smad proteins, and discovery of the effect of TGF- β on the immune system.

There are three homologous isoforms of TGF- β : TGF- β 1, TGF- β 2, and TGF- β 3. Each serves a distinct function and are regulated by unique regulatory elements (Sporn, 1999). Some of their functions overlap, and other subtle differences exist (Jenkins, 2008) that still need more investigation. All three are needed for proper development. Despite similarities observed *in vitro*, *in vivo* effects are notably different among TGF- β isoforms (Annes et al., 2003); the isoforms exhibit distinct tissue localization and null mutant mice of each die due to strikingly different causes, suggesting one cannot substitute the other and roles *in vivo* might differ significantly (Jenkins, 2008), the dissimilarity possibly being a product of differential regulation in each tissue type. Although all three seems to play a role to a certain point, TGF- β 1 isoform is the most relevant one in the context of cancer, and this specific isoform is the one that is involved in most researches with TGF- β . Therefore, whenever TGF- β is mentioned in this thesis, it should be noted that TGF- β is referring to TGF- β 1 and not the others unless specified.



Figure 1.3: TGF- β 3 ligand structure. TGF- β 3 homodimer is shown, each monomer being depicted blue or green. The monomer consists of several antiparallel β sheets and α helices that are locked into place by disulfide bridges (depicted red) and hydrophobic interactions. The propertide fragments that bind non-covalently to the mature molecule to prevent unwanted interactions are not shown in this diagram. Adapted from (Shi and Massague, 2003).

1.2.2 TGF-β and Regulation of TGF-β

TGF- β is a multifunctional cytokine, that controls virtually all mammalian cell types and tissues and it is known to be essential for development (Massague, 2008). It is a relatively new addition to the TGF- β family in terms of evolution since it "made its debut with the rise of the vertebrates (Massague, 2008)," and this fact alludes to their highly sophisticated effects suited for regulation of more complex organisms. It is involved in the maintenance of homeostasis in tissues and in organ systems, regulation of the immune system, tissue repair, and development (Wrzesinski et al., 2007). The effects of TGF- β is known to be highly contextual in different cell types and in cells immersed in different environments, such as the state of the cell and the state of the surrounding cells (Kang et al., 2003; Massague, 2008). Owing to their importance, TGF- β molecules are tightly regulated from the moment they are synthesized. The active ligand is a dimer stabilized by hydrophobic interactions and a disulfide bridge (see figure 1.3), and to prevent uncontrolled TGF- β stimulation in the cell, they are synthesized as proproteins.

In the trans-golgi apparatus where the propeptide is cleaved by furin-type enzymes, the cleaved and dimerized mature TGF- β binds back non-covalently to the cleaved fragments, which is also called a LAP (latency associated peptide), to result in the formation of a small complex known as the SLC (Small Latent Complex) (Jenkins, 2008). In addition to this safety mechanism, the SLC can also be further bound to the LTBPs (Latent TGF- β Binding Proteins), further preventing any unregulated signalling (De Robertis and Kuroda, 2004; Jenkins, 2008). LTBPs are extracellular glycoproteins that sequester and tether the SLC to a LLC (large latent complex) which is further bound to the ECM to await for activating cues for TGF- β under normal conditions (Annes et al., 2003).

Synthesis of TGF- β normally occurs in excess, and the latent TGF- β complex is abundantly tethered to the ECM as LLC, where it awaits activation by enzymes such as furins or other convertases in the vicinity (De Robertis and Kuroda, 2004; Rifkin, 2005). It has also been shown that the dissociation and activation of TGF- β can occur by certain stress conditions such as heat, acid, ROS (Reactive Oxygen Species) and so forth (Jenkins, 2008). These activation mechanisms are a critical step in TGF- β regulation because they prevent TGF- β activation until it is needed. Uncontrolled activation is especially dangerous, since once the pathway is activated, TGF- β can further cause amplification of TGF- β availability by up-regulating its own activating enzymes in a feed-forward fashion (Jenkins, 2008). In addition to the previously mentioned activation mechanisms, evidence suggest that the integrin mediated activation is another

important method, perhaps more important than just protease dependent activation mechanism alone (Yang et al., 2007), suggesting a cooperation between the two mechanisms.



Figure 1.4: Latent TGF-\beta complex awaits activation in the ECM as a LLC. TGF- β dimer is first bound to the latency associated protein, which further binds to the latent TGF- β binding protein that is tethered to the extracellular matrix by an isopeptide bond (covalent bond). The whole complex is named the large latent complex, and in this form TGF- β awaits for activation. This is a critical regulatory mechanism for TGF- β . The arrows indicate cleavage sites. Adapted from (Annes et al., 2003).

1.2.3 TGF-β Signalling

1.2.3.1 TGF-β Receptors

TGF- β signals are transduced from the cell surface to the nucleus mainly by a well established 'canonical' pathway. The ligand detectors of the TGF- β pathway are the TGF- β

receptor type I and TGF- β receptor type II which are glycoproteins that have similar structure and function. The receptors are part of a set of transmembrane serine/threonine kinases that are paired in different combinations (see figure 1.2) to detect TGF- β family members like BMP and Activin. TGF- β is unique in the sense that it does not share receptors like other family members do so promiscuously.

The receptors reside on the cellular membrane to detect any active TGF- β dimers in the vicinity. Without the ligand, the receptors remain as homodimers, but after the latent TGF- β from the LLC is cleaved and activated, the TGF- β R type II dimers bind to the active ligand dimer. This binding results in a conformational change, which then recruits the TGF- β R type I dimer, resulting in a receptor heterotetramer interacting with the ligand (see figure 1.4) (Shi and Massague, 2003). TGF- β R type II dimers are constitutively active serine/threonine kinases that recruites and phosphorylates TGF- β receptor type I dimers. TGF- β receptor type I differs from receptor type II by a 30 amino-acid Glycine-Serine rich region that is called the "GS region" which is a conserved juxtamembrane segment just upstream of the kinase domain. Following TGF- β stimulation, the recruited TGF- β R type I dimer are phosphorylated on the GS region and this phosphorylation of the type I receptor dimer results in the activation of the kinase domain of receptor type I, allowing phosphorylation of its substrates.

TGF- β type III receptors are accessory receptors that are not directly involved in signalling but rather concentrating the ligand near the type I and II receptors, allowing efficient signalling (Esparza-Lopez et al., 2001). Also known as β -glycan, this receptor is a membrane anchored proteoglycan with a short cytoplasmic domain with no function (Cheifetz et al., 1992).



Figure 1.5: Active TGF- β molecule docking on its receptor heterotetramer. The active TGF- β molecule sits in the binding pocket created by the receptors. Adapted from (Shi and Massague, 2003).

1.2.3.2 The Smad Proteins

Smad Proteins

Major signal transducers of the TGF-β pathway are the Smad proteins. These are intracellular proteins that play an essential role in transducing the signal from the receptor to the nucleus, where specific target genes are modulated as a result. The Smads are a structurally distinct group of proteins that measure around 400 to 500 amino acids in length, composed of two conserved domains linked by a non-conserved linker region (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001). They are divided into three classes; R-Smads (Receptor regulated Smads) that are phosphorylated by TGFBR-I, Co-Smad (Common Partner Smads) that interacts with the R-Smads to relay the signal to the nucleus, and I-smads (Inhibitory Smads) that play a role in shutting off, or diminishing the signal (Shi and Massague, 2003). MAD was first discovered in 1995 in Drosophila (Sekelsky et al., 1995) and in subsequent years, Smads were discovered in other species including humans. There are eight family members in mammals, encoded on 4 different chromosomes: Smad 2, 4, 7, are found closely clustered on Chromosome 18; Smad 3, 5, 6 are on Chromosome 15; Smad1 is on Chromosome 4; Smad 8 is on Chromosome 13 (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001). Mammals have only one Co-Smad, Smad4 (Wrana and Attisano, 2000). Therefore, Smad4 serves as the common Co-Smad for all the members of the TGF- β family.

The R-Smads are phosphorylated by the activated receptor hetero-tetramer and subsequently forms a homo-trimer of R-Smads. TGF-β signal-transducing R-Smads are Smad2 and Smad3, and they also propagate signals for Activin and Nodal (see figure 1.2) receptors. Smad1, Smad5, and Smad8 are also R-Smads but these transduce signals initiated by BMP and AMH (Anti-Muellerian) receptors (see figure 1.2). R-Smads can be recruited near the receptors on the membrane and early endosomes by SARA (Smad Anchor for Receptor Activation), an adaptor protein for Smad2 and Smad3 retention in the cytosol, to facilitate signalling (Tsukazaki et al., 1998).

Co-Smad, Smad4 is also known as DPC4 (Deleted in Pancreatic Cancer-Locus 4), alluding to its importance as a safeguard against tumours. Smad4 mutations in pancreatic cancer and colorectal cancer are seen during the transition of the adenoma to carcinoma (Jaffee et al., 2002), although more experiments are needed to determine whether the mutation caused the transition or the progression of cancer caused mutation, it does seem to suggest an important connection. There is only one Co-Smad for mammals and thus Smad4 serves as the common Co-Smad for the signal transduction of all TGF- β family members (see figure 1.2) (Kang, 2006), connecting both branches of the TGF- β family to the nucleus. Following the homotrimerization

of R-Smads after their phosphorylation, one R-Smad is replaced with a Co-Smad to form a heterotrimer, and the heterotrimer work together to relay the signal to the nucleus with the help from cofactors (Chen et al., 2007). In the nucleus the Smad heterotrimer complex exerts its effect by modulating gene transcription in cooperation with various DNA binding cofactors, depending on the state of the cell (Massague, 2008).

There are two I-Smads that function as negative regulators in the pathway, Smad6 and Smad7. I-Smads inhibit the process through interfering with Smad-receptor interactions by competing with the R-smads for receptor binding or by recruiting Smurf, an E3 ubiquitin ligase, to the activated receptors and target them for degradation (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001).



Figure 1.6: Relationship of TGF- β family members, their receptors, and Smad proteins. Smad4 is the common component of all the TGF- β super family members. After type I receptors phosphorylate the R-Smads, the R-Smads form a trimer. Upon interacting with Smad4, one R-Smad is replaced by Smad4 to form a heterotrimer, which travels to the nucleus to regulate target genes. Adapted from (Massague et al., 2005).

Structure of Smads

R-smads and Co-Smad (Smad4) are composed of two domains; the conserved MH1 (Mad Homology 1) and MH2 (Mad Homology 2) domains with a non-conserved linker region connecting the two, which also serves important functions (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001; Shi and Massague, 2003). I-Smads, Smad 6 and 7, are an exception because they have a divergent N' termini replacing an MH1 domain (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001). MH1 domain found in R-Smads and Co-Smad is involved in DNA binding, whereas MH2 is responsible for proteinprotein interactions (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001; Shi and Massague, 2003). Smad MH1 domain binds to DNA at the SBE (Smad-Binding Element), the GNCN repeats, but the affinity is too weak to be efficient, hence requiring cooperation from other DNA binding TFs (Transcription Factors) such as Jun and Sp1 (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001; Gomis et al., 2006).

The MH2 domain is a multifunctional region critical for mediating several different interactions (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001). The carboxy-terminal tail located in the MH2 domain contains the two essential serine residues from a "SSXS" motif that can be directly phosphorylated by TGFBR-I, resulting in activation of R-Smads (Abdollah et al., 1997; Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001). MH2 domain is also important for binding to SARA (Smad Anchor for Receptor Activation), which recruits Smads to the TGF-β receptors for a more efficient signalling process (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001).



Figure 1.7: The structure and relationship of different Smads. The Smads consist of 3 distinct regions. The two conserved globular domains, MH1 region and MH2 region, are separated by a non-conserved linker. MH1 domain is generally involved in DNA binding, whereas MH2 domain is involved protein-protein interaction. The R-Smads have the SSXS motif at their carboxy terminal of MH2 region, which can be phosphorylated by type I receptors. Co-Smad carries a NES (Nuclear Export Signal) and a SAD (Smad Activating Domain). Both types of Smads mentioned possess a basic pocket, which allows them to bind to from trimers. I-Smads differ from the other two types by showing only a weak homology to the MH1 domain, but it still has the MH2 domain without the SSXS motif at the carboxy end. Adapted from (Massague et al., 2005)

The linker regions also serve several purposes. The linker region of R-Smads contains potential phosphorylation sites that may possibly be phosphorylated by MAPK (Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase) (Attisano and Wrana, 2000; Ho et al., 2005; Massague et al., 2000; ten Dijke et al., 2000; Zhang and Derynck, 1999) this phosphorylation blocks normal function of R-Smads, suggesting that a significant role is played by the linker region for signal regulation (Ho et al., 2005). The linker region of R-Smads and I-Smads carry a proline-tyrosine (PY) motif that mediates interaction with Smurf (Smad Ubiquitination Regulatory Factor), which is an ubiquitin ligase (Bonni et al., 2001; Kavsak et al., 2000; Zhu et al., 1999). Also, the linker domain of CoSmad, Smad 4, carries a NES (Nuclear Export Signal) and a SAD (Smad activation domain) (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001; Kurisaki et al., 2001; Pierreux et al., 2000; Watanabe et al., 2000).



Figure 1.8: Inhibitory Smads and Their Mechanism of Function. There are two I-Smads that negatively regulate TGF- β signalling. Smad6 and Smad7 do not have the conserved MH1 globular domain that binds to DNA. Rather, the I-Smads compete with the R-Smads and inhibit signalling by competition. Smad6 can interact with Smad1 to render Smad1 inactive, and Smad7 can trigger degradation of TGF- β receptors by actively recruiting Smurf ubiquitin ligase. Adapted from (Shi and Massague, 2003).

I-Smads, Smad6 and Smad7, show only a weak homology to the MH1 domain, but still possess a conserved MH2 domain present in R-Smads without the serine residues at the carboxy terminal (the SSXS motif), which would still allow protein-protein interaction (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001; Shi and Massague, 2003). They stably bind activated receptor complexes to compete and interfere with R-Smad binding to the receptor, therefore diminishing the overall signal (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001). In addition, I-Smads can interact with R-Smads to render R-Smads inactive (Shi and Massague, 2003). To even further decrease the signal, Smad7 can recruit Smurfs, which are ubiquitin ligases, to degrade the active receptor complexes

(Ebisawa et al., 2001; Kavsak et al., 2000). Smad7 normally resides in the nucleus, and upon ligand stimulation, Smad7 is exported out of the nucleus to perform its function (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001).



Figure 1.9: A simplified outline of the TGF- β signalling pathway. The active TGF- β homodimer interacts with the receptor heterotetramer, causing activation of TGFBR-I by TGFBR-II, which is a constitutively active serine kinase. The activation of TGFBR-I results in R-Smad phosphorylation at the C terminal serine residues, the SSXS motif. R-Smads are held in the cytosol by SARA, an adaptor protein. The activated R-Smad homotrimer then interacts with a Co-Smad, forming a heterotrimer which translocates to the nucleus, where it interacts with other cofactors to assist DNA binding. Phosphatases can dephosphorylate the activated R-Smad Co-Smad complex and Smurf marks the activated receptor complex by ubiquitination, targeting them for degradation. Adapted from (Shi and Massague, 2003).

Gene Regulation by Smads

The wide spectrum of response that TGF- β may elicit is likely to be caused by combinations of Smads and DNA binding cofactors; cofactor expression pattern at a given time and location which would reflect the state of the cell and its environment is postulated to be the source of variety in this relatively simplistic pathway (Chen et al., 2007). A proposed mechanism involves Ski and CBP (CREB Binding Protein), cofactors for smads with relatively equal binding affinities but with opposite outcomes; CBP activates transcription of TGF- β responsive genes but Ski represses their transcription (Chen et al., 2007).



Figure 1.10: The Smad-Ski/ CBP dynamics. The R-Smads form a homotrimer upon activation. Interaction with the Co-Smad (Smad4) results in formation of heterotrimer that translocates to the nucleus, further interacting with Ski or CBP with equal affinity. Adapted from (Chen et al., 2007).

The levels of Ski or CBP would then act as a sensor mechanism for the Smads, and the same set of Smads will dictate, upon TGF- β receptor type I activation, either the activation or repression of target genes (Chen et al., 2007). Smads are an important set of proteins that are virtually essential for TGF- β signalling (Massague, 2008). Smad genes are found to be frequently altered in cancers and those mutations are found to render the TGF- β pathway defective (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001), which links TGF- β pathway function and the integrity of Smads.



Figure 1.11: Cross-talk between TGF-β pathway and other major signal transduction pathways. Some major signal transduction pathways influence R-Smads, and ultimately affect the TGF-β pathway. IFNγ up regulates Smad7, an inhibitory Smad, growth factors affect transcription of Smad proteins, and activation of the MAPK pathway can inactivate R-Smads. Adapted from (Massague et al., 2005).

In addition to transducing TGF-β signal, Smads also provide cross-talk mechanisms among other important pathways; for example, MAPK (Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases) can phosphorylate R-Smad to prevent its activation (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001). Some crosstalk mechanisms can even further increase the magnitude of effects, Ras signalling being one example that often cooperates with TGF- β pathway to affect cellular functions (Erdogan et al., 2008).

1.2.3.3 Non-canonical Pathways of TGF-β signalling

Pathways of TGF-β signalling that do not follow the canonical pathway are also important for function. The Smad proteins are not the only ones relaying TGF-β signal to the nucleus according to numerous number of studies (Massague, 2008). TGF-β receptors can interact with the Interleukin-1 receptor effector module to activate MAPK signalling cascades (Lu et al., 2007), rather than phosphorylating R-smads. TGFBR-II does not always have to interact with TGFBR-I, as another research suggests; TGFBR-I can activate Par6, independent of the type I receptor, to cause EMT in epithelial cells (Ozdamar et al., 2005). These variant pathways are termed 'non-canonical pathways,' as opposed to the canonical pathway involving Smad participation.

The fact that not only Smads can relay TGF- β signal, point to possibilities of yet unknown compensatory mechanisms or back-up systems that might complicate research. An example can be the Smad4 knock-out mice that did not show any abnormal development in TGF- β target organs, even though TGF- β family receptor ablations did result in abnormalities (Bardeesy et al., 2006). Smad4 is necessary for signalling through the canonical pathway of all TGF- β family members, since it is a common Co-Smad partner for R-smads of both TGF- β family branches (Kang, 2006); however, normal organ development without Smad4 (Bardeesy et

al., 2006) would mean there might be another back-up mechanism that allows signal transduction at a sufficient level.

1.2.4 TGF-β and Cancer

Cancers develop by acquiring inheritable traits (see figure 1.9), such as: 1) self sufficiency in growth signals; 2) insensitivity to anti-growth signals; 3) evasion of apoptosis; 4) angiogenesis; 5) limitless replicative potential; 6) the ability to invade and metastasize (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000); 7) evasion of immune surveillance. TGF- β can inhibit tumour progression and malignancy, as it keeps cell growth in check by promoting cell cycle arrest/apoptosis in cells that are proliferating abnormally, but also it was documented to aid tumour progression and metastasis in numerous cases (Pinkas and Teicher, 2006). All the seven hallmarks of cancer can potentially be acquired by mutating TGF- β pathway components, and to have control over TGF- β signalling is to have control over cancer.

Depending on functions, the TGF- β pathway can be largely divided into two arms; one arm fighting against cancer and the other helping cancer to progress into late-stage cancer (Massague, 2008). TGF- β can be an advantage to cancer cells because the cancer cells can alter TGF- β signalling by disabling the tumor suppressive arm selectively, which requires keeping the core components intact. The tumour suppressive effect of TGF- β can be abrogated in two ways; mutation of components in the pathway so that the pathway no longer functions, or components can be modified through mutation so that they still function, but selectively. Smad proteins can be mutated to abrogate TGF- β signal, and indeed, Smad4 and 2 mutations are often found in cancers (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001). Mutations in the receptor or other Smads are often present in cancers (Massague, 2008). Abrogating the pathway completely would not give the cancer cells their benefits, and in general, those with modified TGF- β pathways are more problematic than the ones that have lost TGF- β signalling for good (Massague, 2008).



Figure 1.12: The Hallmarks of Cancer. Most cancers acquire all six traits during their development, through various mutations. Modifying the TGF- β pathway can give the cells most of the traits summarized above. Adapted from (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000).

TGF- β can exert its effects on tumour cells by promoting differentiation, inhibiting cell cycle progression from G1 phase (Massague, 2008). In addition to the direct effects, TGF- β can also have indirect effects on cancer: In sites of injury, TGF- β functions to prevent cell proliferation and inflammation from going out of control and potentially becoming cancerous (Massague, 2008). Also, TGF- β can affect tumours by modulating the immune system, as it also

functions as an important anti-inflammatory cytokine that is essential for proper regulation of any immune response (Massague, 2008). It suppresses stroma-derived mitogens (Bhowmick et al., 2004; Massague, 2008) that may stimulate tumour growth.

1.2.4.1 TGF-β Inhibits Tumour Growth by Cell Cycle Arrest and Apoptosis

TGF- β is often present in the tumour environment, probably in an attempt to inhibit tumour growth (Massague, 2008), as it has been shown to have cytostatic effects or apoptotic effects, depending on the state of the target cell (Siegel and Massague, 2003). In the normal state, TGF- β exerts cytostatic effects to counter stimulation and when the stimulatory signals are overwhelming, TGF- β counters the effect by causing apoptosis (Guasch et al., 2007; Massague, 2008). There is a need for more investigations to determine how much of a stimulatory signal triggers apoptotic effect of TGF- β and what is involved to regulate this process. Another more indirect effect comes from fibroblasts; fibroblasts are known to be an important source of mitogens, and when TGF- β receptor type II was deleted in these cells, the epithelial cells in the vicinity started proliferating, resulting in hyperplasia (Bhowmick et al., 2004).

TGF-β receptor type II is a popular target for alterations among different cancers such as cancer of the colon and the ovaries (Engle et al., 2002; Massague, 2008). Altered methylations and other epigenetic patterns of receptor types I and II can also result in defective signal transduction, and is a common occurrence in lung cancers and bladder cancers, just to name a few (Massague, 2008). The fact that mutations that alter TGF-β pathway are frequent in cancers suggests a tumour suppressive role for the cytokine. Smad3 knockout mice exhibited accelerated healing when wounded, an effect due to rapid proliferation of keratinocytes (Ashcroft et al.,

1999). Similar results were obtained in TGF- β receptor type II knockout experiments in keratinocytes (Guasch et al., 2007). Mutations that cause ablation in the pathway have been shown to facilitate progression of polyps into carcinoma; TGF- β receptor type II ablation or Smad4 mutations alone seemed to be sufficient for the effect (Biswas et al., 2004; Takaku et al., 1998). These findings suggest that TGF- β may be the factor for inhibition of cell proliferation and inhibition of cancer progression.

In addition to loss of function mutation leading to interruption of tumour suppression, constitutively active TGF- β receptor type I inhibits tumour growth (Siegel and Massague, 2003), which demonstrates a more definite tumour inhibitory effect of TGF- β . It is important to note that disengagement of this pathway alone did not seem to be sufficient for tumorigenesis (Zhang et al., 2005). Differentiation is also one of the main effects of TGF- β on cells (Derynck and Akhurst, 2007). This is seen to be the effect of TGF- β on Id proteins (Inhibitor of Differentiation); TGF- β causes Id1 expression down-regulation in epithelial cells (Kang et al., 2003), therefore likely promoting differentiation.

1.2.4.2 TGF-β Aids in Tumour Progression

In the late stages of cancer, cancer cells usually acquire the ability to block negative factors that stunt tumour growth and use host system to their advantage. One of the most important tools is the TGF- β pathway. TGF- β can stimulate malignant progression by affecting cell-cell interactions, namely cell/tissue plasticity and survival, by enhancing angiogenesis, and suppressing the immune system to make it difficult for the host to fight cancer (Cui et al., 1996). As a reinforcing mechanism of homeostasis, TGF- β acts as a growth inhibitor in normal tissues and in early tumours. However, cancer cells can gain resistance towards inhibitory effects or mutate signalling components of the pathway to disable the system or even use the system to their advantage (Pinkas and Teicher, 2006). It is not surprising that TGF- β core components are found intact in many types of cancers such as breast cancers and melanomas; examinations of breast cancers and melanomas revealed the selective disabling of the cytostatic arm of the TGF- β pathway. The exact components of TGF- β signalling still needs clarification (Massague, 2008),

Cancer cells can tinker the pathway to suit their needs, to eventually render all tumour suppressing properties of TGF-β defective (Massague, 2008; Yan et al., 2002). Evasion of suppression occurs through mutation of components in the pathway, such as receptor mutations and mutations in Smad proteins. Evidence show cancer cells possessing intact TGF-β receptors and Smads, but without any cytostatic response that would normally be present in normal cells (Gomis et al., 2006). Experiments have demonstrated the effects of defective components in the pathway in cell cultures and mice; Smad4 deficient mice developed spontaneous squamous cell carcinomas (Li et al., 2003) and TGFBR-II deficiency was seen to facilitate carcinoma conversion of intestinal polyps (Biswas et al., 2004). Interestingly, some genes that would have been repressed in response to TGF-β have unexpectedly shown an increase in breast cancer cells (Padua et al., 2008), which shows that the cells may be responding to TGF-β, but to respond in an opposite fashion. Metastatic breast cancer cells are shown to express intact TGF-β receptors and Smads, suggesting that they selectively lost the tumour suppressive cytostatic and apoptotic response to TGF-β (Gomis et al., 2006).


Figure 1.13: Outline of TGF-\beta mutations affecting normal TGF-\beta functions. Loss of core pathway results in abrogation of TGF- β effects, whereas selective loss of suppressor arm allows cancer to gain advantages that favour its growth and metastasis. Adapted from (Padua and Massague, 2009).

Angiogenesis

In order for the tumours to grow more than 1mm in diameter, they need to obtain sufficient blood supply, to provide them the necessary nutrients and oxygen, and to eliminate their waste products. Angiogenesis, the process of branching out new blood vessels from an existing one, is a critical step that allows tumour cells to grow beyond 1mm. TGF- β seems to play an important role in angiogenesis as TGF- β pathway component mutants that render the pathway defective were shown to be defective in angiogenesis (Dickson et al., 1995; Larsson et al., 2001; Oshima et al., 1996). TGF- β was also shown to play an important role in modulating embryonic vascular assembly and in the establishment and maintenance of vessel wall integrity (Pepper, 1997).

EMT and Motility

TGF-β is an important regulator of development; it coordinates EMT (Derynck and Akhurst, 2007), an essential and normal process that takes place during embryonic development resulting in organogenesis and tissue formation (Derynck and Akhurst, 2007). EMT is one of the most important effects of TGF- β , a process that allows organized, non-motile epithelial cells to become disorganized, motile mesenchymal cells, which will give tumors of epithelial origin the capacity to invade and metastasize to distal sites and result in a great decrease in survival of cancer patients (Derynck and Akhurst, 2007; Xu et al., 2009). The changes that occur during the EMT process include increased migration, increased invasion, increased scattering abilities and elongation of cell shape. Mesenchymal markers such as Vimentin, Fibronectin, Snail/Slug, and N-Cadherin increase while epithelial markers such as Cytokeratin and E-Cadherin show a marked decrease.

When cancer cells obliterate the tumour suppressive arm of TGF- β , they gain an enormous benefit; it can use TGF- β to down-regulate the expression of proteins like E-Cadherin that confines them to a fixed location (Derynck and Akhurst, 2007; Thiery, 2003). EMT induced by TGF- β is most likely the key to metastasis of cancer to remote, undisturbed regions of an organism. Over-expression of TGF- β was observed to foster the growth of larger, more metastatic tumours (Stearns et al., 1999), and blocking the signalling caused inhibition of tumour progression and spread (Zhang et al., 2005). Elevated expression of TGF- β 1 was shown to be

linked to lung metastasis of breast cancer in mice which was reversed by blocking TGF- β 1 (Biswas et al., 2007), suggesting a veritable effect of TGF- β 1 in metastasis.

In addition to direct effects on tumour cells, TGF- β was also shown to direct complex processes such as myofibroblasts guiding cancer cells through collagen matrix (Allinen et al., 2004). Altered TGF- β signalling also had indirect effects on tumour cell migration by recruiting helper cells, Gr-1+CD11b+ myeloid cells, which help invasion and metastasis through its enzyme production, most notably MMPs (Matrix-Metalloproteinases) (Yang et al., 2008).

1.2.4.3. TGF-β and the Immune system

The immune system is an elaborate network composed of cells where each component is assigned distinct roles in order to eliminate foreign intruders from the body, which also includes malignant cells (Massague, 2008), as tumour cells are no longer recognized as "self" by the immune system. However, cancer cells can evade that system by employing TGF- β , which is an essential regulator of the immune system that acts mainly by suppression of the on-going immune response and blunting the magnitude of the response (Wrzesinski et al., 2007). TGF- β and its family members were shown to regulate apoptosis in hematopoietic cells by controlling the expression of a phosphatase named SHIP (Src homology 2 domain-containing 5'inositol phosphatase) in a Smad dependent manner (Valderrama-Carvajal et al., 2002).

Although inflammation is beneficial in many instances, chronic and unregulated inflammation is a factor for tumour development (Engle et al., 2002) and other disease. TGF- β defective mice are shown to suffer from uncontrollable inflammation, which often progresses to tumour development (Maggio-Price et al., 2006). Another study conducted with mice that are not

only TGF- β deficient but also lymphocyte deficient, did not develop autoimmunity but still displayed inflammatory hyperplasia in their colon, that eventually progressed to adenoma or adenocarcinoma (Engle et al., 2002), suggesting the importance of an intact lymphocyte population and TGF- β . More studies should follow in order to determine whether severe chronic inflammation alone is sufficient to provoke tumour development, or defective TGF- β had other unknown effects. So far, it seems that the immune system needs to be intact, but the narrow window of activation that is considered 'optimal' must be maintained in order to remain tumour free.

TGF- β prevents excessive inflammation by modulating CD4+ T cells, CD8+ T cells, dendritic cells, NK (Natural Killer) cells and macrophage function (see figure 1.14), playing a protective role (Massague, 2008). One mechanism of TGF- β related suppression of T cell activation seems to include IL-2 (Interleukin-2) inhibition at the transcriptional level, which can protect from chronic inflammation and autoimmune diseases (Wrzesinski et al., 2007).

However, an abundance of TGF- β can be worrisome in the context of malignancy because of its potent inhibitory effects on the immune system; TGF- β is the main factor that allows cancer cells to evade the immune system (Massague, 2008). TGF- β demonstrated negative effects on T cell activation and antigen presentation by the APCs (Antigen Presenting Cells) (Gorelik and Flavell, 2000). TGF- β also down-regulated essential weapons that cytotoxic T cells possess; Granzymes, perforins, and other molecules involved in the cytotoxic program are repressed at the transcriptional level (Thomas and Massague, 2005).



Figure 1.14: Outline of TGF-β effects on the main members of the immune system at the cellular level. The overall effect is inhibitory, which can serve beneficial functions for tumour cells. TGF- β stimulates generation of T regulatory lymphocytes that are immune suppressive, tolerance-inducing cells. TGF- β inhibits generation and proliferation of CTLs (Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes) that are mainly involved in warding off non-self intruders. NK (Natural Killer) cells, which are known to play an important role against cancer is rendered ineffective by TGF- β , and TGF- β also blunts APC (Antigen Presenting Cell) activity. Adapted from (Wrzesinski et al., 2007)

In addition, TGF- β is a factor for development of Regulatory T cells, the cells that can induce tolerance to an antigen, also adding to the anti-inflammatory, pro-tumour effect; this undesirable effect in the context of cancer is observed to reach maximal levels in advanced tumours producing significant amounts of TGF- β (Kryczek et al., 2007). Also, mice engineered to be defective in TGF- β signalling, while developing autoimmune disease was able to clear

tumours that were grafted (Gorelik and Flavell, 2000) although it is not clear whether autoimmune disease and the resulting overactive immune system cleared the tumour graft or if the process was actually specifically tumour-oriented. The mechanisms involved in all these processes are not established yet, and needs further investigation (Thomas and Massague, 2005).

1.2.5 Blocking the TGF-β Pathway

Despite the complexity of dual effects on cancer, there are research groups attempting to control the pathway by the use of inhibitors, although these attempts seem premature since some major mechanisms are not yet elucidated. With more efforts in trying to elucidate the unknown mechanisms, combined with the efforts in drug development, TGF- β signalling pathway holds immense therapeutic potential.

Because high TGF- β levels are found in many tumours and are often associated with a dismal prognosis, research in order to find TGF- β blocking drugs have begun (Wrzesinski et al., 2007), although there is still much lack of information regarding this pathway. Patients that express high levels if TGF- β in the vicinity of their tumour were estimated to be 18 times more likely to suffer from relapse of the disease (Friedman et al., 1995). Autocrine activation of TGF- β pathway in cancer is linked to increased metastasis, invasions, and proliferation (Yan et al., 2002). Neutralization of TGF- β is now proposed as a solution for tumour-derived TGF- β -induced down-regulation of T cells, and ultimately the down-regulation of the immune system (Thomas and Massague, 2005). Blocking TGF- β is predicted to be beneficial in prevention of metastasis, with added benefits of enhancing the uptake of other cancer drugs (Derynck and Akhurst, 2007). Indeed, laboratory observations show while TGF- β increase caused by radiation

resulted in more metastases, this effect was counteracted by administration of TGF- β neutralizing antibody (Biswas et al., 2007).

However, based on discoveries covered in previous sections, the thought of blocking TGF- β altogether with the use of blocking agents is difficult to fathom. An organism consists of various cell types and tissues in different environments that can be variously affected by TGF- β . TGF- β signalling system, a highly contextual program regulating a plethora of genes, cannot be expected to be turned on/off at will and not have any serious side-effects. Although clinical trials so far have shown promising results and no side effects serious enough to stop the program (Yingling et al., 2004), the long term effects are not known. As years pass with clinical trials it would not be surprising when TGF- β blocking drugs present some serious side effects such as autoimmune diseases and improper organ function, knowing that there are diseases associated with insufficient TGF- β signalling such as the Marfan syndrome and Loeys-Dietz syndrome that result in vascular abnormalities (Loeys et al., 2005).

To block the whole pathway altogether without discrimination, there are still too much unknowns that can lead to unexpected, undesirable effects. The difference between the isoforms of TGF- β needs recognition, and unknown mechanisms such as that of the T cell activation suppression by TGF- β (Thomas and Massague, 2005) should be elucidated to obtain a more efficacious drug with fewer side effects. Every single component of the TGF- β signalling pathway is possibly a subject of mutation, and alterations can also occur at the epigenetic level (Massague, 2008). Mutations that alter component characteristics may be the most important cause of differential effects of TGF- β on tumour tissues. Overall, effects seem to vary depending on cell types and lines, which would mean effects of TGF- β on certain cells, cannot be assumed before actually testing on the cells. Also, judging from the complexity of the system, species

variations are also likely to exist, which is a point to consider since most *in-vivo* experiments are done in mice. Other animal systems must be tested to select the ones bearing most similarities to humans to conduct more meaningful experiments.

1.3 Overview of Menin

Menin is the product of MEN1 (multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1), and is a novel protein with no obvious function (Yang and Hua, 2007). Several partners are proposed and therefore several roles, but the exact functions of the protein is yet to be unveiled (White and Doherty, 2008). Up to date, the most prominent role it might play seems to be cell-growth regulation, as researchers have seen a noticeable effect of Menin knock-out/reconstitution on cell cycle transition, apoptosis, and levels of expression of cell cycle regulators like p18 INK4C, p27Kip1, and cyclin D1 (Hussein et al., 2007). It has also been shown that mutational inactivation of Menin can be linked with the loss of growth control in many types of tissues, suggesting that the gene may play an important role in tumorigenesis in general, not limited to MEN1 affected families with endocrine tumors (Marx et al., 1999a).

The term Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia 1 was coined in 1968 (Steiner et al., 1968), and is used to describe a disorder that involves developing relatively uncommon endocrine tumours in two or more hormone producing tissues (Piecha et al., 2008; White and Doherty, 2008). The gene most commonly found to be mutated in the afflicted patients was identified on chromosome 11q13 and cloned in 1997, which was named MEN1 after the disease (Chandrasekharappa et al., 1997; Lemmens et al., 1997).

1. 3. 1 The MEN1 Gene and its Product Menin

1.3.1.1 Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia

MEN1 is a disease that results from mutations in the MEN1 gene, which results in deficiencies in the functional Menin protein. The prevalence of this disease is 3 per 100,000 with the same rates for both males and females (Dreijerink et al., 2006). Multiple tumors develop either in one tissue or several tissues, and they tend to reoccur in MEN1 (Piecha et al., 2008), but the most prominent feature of this rare condition is the development of "the three P's:" Parathyroid hyperplasia, pancreatic endocrine tumors of islet cells, and pituitary endocrine tumors (Brandi et al., 2001; White and Doherty, 2008). To be classified as a MEN1 case, at least two of the three P's have to be present (Brandi et al., 2001; White and Doherty, 2008). The three P's are the most common conditions affecting MEN1 patients, although they are not the only afflictions. Non-endocrine tumors are relatively rare, but they do occur. Most MEN1 tumors are well-differentiated, histologically benign, and are rarely metastatic. The symptoms include hyper-secretion of hormones and mass effect (Piecha et al., 2008). This is a devastating disorder as half of all MEN1 patients are expected to die before they reach the age of 50 (Doherty, 2005).

The disease can be either hereditary or sporadic (Dreijerink et al., 2006), where hereditary MEN1 shows an autosomal dominant pattern of inheritance (Piecha et al., 2008). Sporadic cases are extremely rare, as this implies "two-hits" made on separate organs independently (Dreijerink et al., 2006; White and Doherty, 2008). This type of pattern can be seen in tumors that are associated with mutations in a tumor suppressor gene and can be explained by the two-hit hypothesis, the loss of both alleles leading to tumor development if a gene is a tumor suppressor (Knudson, 1971), the classic example being the Retinoblastoma gene.

The mutations that cause inactivation of Menin, of which 400 different ones were found (Dreijerink et al., 2006), are spread throughout the gene without any hot-spots and there is no genotype to phenotype correlation, which complicates research (Guo and Sawicki, 2001; Marx et al., 1999b; Tsukada et al., 2001). However, as several groups have developed and are working on knock-out models (Hussein et al., 2007; Ji et al., 2007) there will be increasingly more information about Menin available.

Carriers of MEN1 mutations must be examined periodically for any tumor development as it is only a matter of time for the carriers to develop MEN1 related tumors (Piecha et al., 2008). The penetrance of MEN1 at the age of 50 is near complete (Dreijerink et al., 2006; White and Doherty, 2008) and although most MEN1 related tumors are benign, the lack of regular checkups can lead to serious complications and even earlier death (Piecha et al., 2008). The screening procedure consists of a series of biochemical tests to detect anomalies in serum calcium levels, serum Parathyroid hormone levels (PTH), fasting gastrin levels, fasting glucose levels combined with computed tomography, endoscopy, MRI imaging (Piecha et al., 2008).

1.3.1.2 Menin

Menin is located on chromosome 11q13 in humans and it is highly conserved among humans, mice, rats, Zebrafish and even fruit flies (Dreijerink et al., 2006). The gene is composed of 10 exons, which encodes for the 610 amino-acid protein Menin (Chandrasekharappa et al., 1997; Piecha et al., 2008). It is a 67kDa nuclear protein that is expressed ubiquitously and abundantly throughout the body (Guru et al., 1998). Higher levels of expression are observed in actively proliferating cells, and there is a difference in localization in meiotic cells compared to

somatic cells (Suphapeetiporn et al., 2002) which suggests different regulation systems are at work in different cell types and Menin might even play a different role depending on the site.

Menin, has been shown to interact or bind numerous partners (White and Doherty, 2008), most of them being nuclear factors. It was shown to bind transcription factors, DNA processing machinery, cytoskeleton-associated proteins and components of DNA repair mechanisms (Agarwal et al., 1999; Piecha et al., 2008; Poisson et al., 2003; Sukhodolets et al., 2003). It was also shown to directly bind DNA in a non-specific manner (Attisano and Lee-Hoeflich, 2001; La et al., 2004). Mutations in MEN1, especially the ones near the C' terminus prevented DNA binding and caused the cell to fail at repressing cell proliferation, cell cycle progression at the G2/M phase (La et al., 2004). The positive charges in the two NLS regions were shown to direct DNA binding as well as repressing cell proliferation (La et al., 2004).

Menin is widely recognized as a tumour suppressor protein based on clinical and experimental observations (Piecha et al., 2008). Inactivation of Menin results in increased proliferation, cell cycle progression, and inhibition of apoptosis (Schnepp et al., 2006), and all these effects were reversed when Menin was reconstituted (Hussein et al., 2007), which supports its putative identity as a tumour suppressor. Menin seems to act as either a factor in the DNA repair process or as a protective factor that prevents DNA damage (Sakurai et al., 1999). It is a critical factor in the TGF- β pathway for inducing cell cycle arrest in pituitary tumour cells (Kaji et al., 2001). Interestingly, a Menin-null cell line developed and observed in a study displayed altered ECM component expression; those ECM components that are important for the developing heart and also known to be regulated by TGF- β , were decreased (Ji et al., 2007). The same cell line was shown to respond poorly to TGF- β (Ji et al., 2007).

1.3.2 Menin Structure and Sites of Importance

Menin is a 67kDa nuclear protein that does not share any homologies with any other known protein. There are no clear functional domains, although there is some evidence that suggests it is a GTPase protein. It contains 2 Nuclear Localization Signals, and has numerous potential phosphorylation sites. The regulators that control Menin phosphorylation are not known at this point, but the major phosphorylation site of Menin seems to be S543 and some phosphorylations occur on S583, both being serine residues (MacConaill et al., 2006).

Mutations in Menin tend to cluster around JunD-interacting areas of Menin (Agarwal et al., 1999). JunD binding region was reported to have no effect on Smad3-Menin interaction (Kaji et al., 2001). Nonsense mutations occurs more frequently in exons 2, 4, 7, 9, and 10 (Wautot et al., 2002). In the two NLS regions, no missense mutations were reported, despite the amount of mutations described (Wautot et al., 2002).

1. 3. 3 Proposed functions of Menin

Menin interacts with numerous other partners including Jun D (Agarwal et al., 1999; Gobl et al., 1999), NF- κ B (Heppner et al., 2001), and MH2 domain of Smad3 (Kaji et al., 2001; Sowa et al., 2003) of the TGF- β pathway and others such as Smads responsible for BMP signaling in bone cells (Hussein et al., 2007; Sowa et al., 2003). Not surprisingly, Menin was reported to exert control over gene expression of several genes such as telomerase (Sukhodolets et al., 2003), several hormones (Namihira et al., 2002; Sayo et al., 2002), and cyclin dependent inhibitors like p18 INK4C and p27 Kip1 (Fontaniere et al., 2006; Karnik et al., 2005; Milne et al., 2005). In most cases, Menin was shown to control genes through affecting transcription, involving epigenetic regulators (Dreijerink et al., 2006), linking signalling pathways to chromatin modification.

It has been shown many times that the "Loss of Heterozygosity" of Menin stimulates tumor formation in endocrine tissues, but the effect is not clear in non-endocrine tissues. Menin was shown to be involved in multiple processes like chromatin remodeling and gene transcription, but unfortunately the exact function of Menin still remains elusive and the effect of mutations in MEN1 gene is not clear, especially in non-endocrine tissues. Factors like JunD exert different effects on the cell depending on the presence of Menin; In the presence of Menin, JunD acts as a growth suppressor (Marx, 2005), wherease if Menin is absent from the environment, JunD acts as a growth promoter (Agarwal et al., 2003; Knapp et al., 2000). Some researchers have labelled Menin as a general regulator of transcription (Scacheri et al., 2006).

Menin as a GTPase

Menin is considered as a tumor suppressor protein with a nuclear localization. It also exhibits efficient GTPase activity in the presence of a GAP named nm23, a cytoplasmic GTPase activating protein for the Ras related GTPase Rad (Ohkura et al., 2001; Yaguchi et al., 2002). Nm23 is a putative metastasis suppressor (Steeg et al., 1988) that belong to a family of nucleoside diphosphate kinases that are major suppliers of nucleoside triphosphates in the cell using phosphates from ATPs (Yaguchi et al., 2002). Nm23 and Menin, when they are separate, were shown not to have any GTPase activity at all (Yaguchi et al., 2002). Further adding to the evidence, Menin was shown to have a low-affinity but specific binding to GTP in a magnesium-

dependent manner as with other GTPases (Feuerstein et al., 1987), and upon examining its sequence GTP-binding sequence motifs present in all known GTPases (Yaguchi et al., 2002). However, the biological significance of Menin's GTPase activity remains unknown.

Menin as a pro-apoptotic factor

Among many of its proposed roles, Menin was observed to be important in apoptosis, one of the most important protective mechanisms against tumour formation. Over-expressing Menin was shown to increase apoptosis in an insulinoma cell line (Sayo et al., 2002). A similar experiment using a murine cell line demonstrated over expression of Menin can actually trigger apoptosis (Schnepp et al., 2004). Loss of Menin in cells hindered initiation of apoptosis triggered by tumour necrosis factor α (TNF- α) and UV irradiation, and replenishing Menin in those cells restored their ability to go through apoptosis (White and Doherty, 2008).



Figure 1.15: Menin contributes to apoptosis. Menin was shown to play a role in apoptosis by activating transcription of Caspase 8, an initiator caspase. It is also involved in activation of Caspase 9, another initiator Caspase, and p21 that plays a role in DNA repair or apoptosis. Adapted from (Bazzi et al., 2008).

Evidence suggests that Menin might act as a pro-apoptotic factor by inducing the expression of caspase 8 (Varfolomeev et al., 1998), which is an essential initiator caspase. Menin binds to the 5' untranslated region (5' UTR) of the Caspase 8 gene and activates transcription, while the absence of Menin reduced acetylation of the Caspase 8 gene (La et al., 2007). Menin mutants were found to lose their ability to bind to the 5'UTR of the Caspase 8 gene, failing to activate Caspase 8 gene transcription and TNF- α mediated apoptosis (La et al., 2007).

Menin causes cell cycle arrest and growth inhibition

Menin is shown to act as an important factor in cell cycle, by modulating the expression of cyclin D1 gene, cyclin D3 and CDK4 (cyclin dependent kinase 4) (Ratineau et al., 2004), all of which forms a kinase complex that promotes G1 to S transition (Sherr, 1996). Also, evidence suggests that Menin plays a role in TGF- β mediated growth inhibition by participating in transcriptional regulation (Guru et al., 1998) and cell cycle control (Kaji et al., 1999) brought on by TGF- β . Menin re-expression in Menin deficient cell lines demonstrated that Menin may be an important factor in cell cycle arrest at G1 phase (Schnepp et al., 2006).



Figure 1.16: Menin May Regulate Cell Cycle Transition. Menin was shown to down regulate genes that play important roles in cell cycle transition from G1 to S phase, such as Cyclin D, CDK4 and ASK (initiator of DNA replication). Menin up regulates CDK inhibitors p18 and p27, further preventing cell cycle transition. Adapted from (Yang and Hua, 2007).

Menin as a protector of chromosomes

Genomic stability seems to involve Menin, as Menin was shown to be linked in many cases with increase stability. MEN1 patients carry chromosomal breakage even in their "normal" cells (Gustavson et al., 1983; Scappaticci et al., 1991). Menin also interacts with DNA repair proteins such as RPA2, FanCD2 (a protein involved in a BRCA1 – mediated DNA repair pathway), and CHES1 (Busygina et al., 2006; Jin et al., 2003; Sukhodolets et al., 2003). Even *Drosophila* was shown to require its Menin homolog for a proper stress response (Papaconstantinou et al., 2005) and the absence of its Menin homolog made it sensitive to DNA damage (Busygina et al., 2004).



Figure 1.17: Menin may be a required factor for Genome stability. Menin was shown to interact with various nuclear factors that are known to be crucial for DNA repair processes and in sensing DNA damage. Menin was shown to increase its affinity for FanCD2 upon DNA damage. The interaction results in inhibition of hTERT transcription and possibly an enhanced transcription of a factor responsible for increasing genomic stability. Adapted from (Yang and Hua, 2007).

Menin in hormonal regulation

Menin is likely to be an important factor for hormonal regulation, as the lack of the protein is often linked to endocrine disorders, especially the ones concerning the pituitary gland (Namihira et al., 2002; Yang and Hua, 2007). One way that Menin achieves this is by acting as a key regulator in signalling events of Activin, a TGF-β family member (Lacerte et al., 2004).

Menin was shown to regulate development and maintenance of lactotrope cells of the pituitary gland, and suppress secretion of the hormone prolactin in response to Activin, together with the Smad proteins that are responsible for relaying TGF- β signal (Lacerte et al., 2004; Lebrun, 2009; Namihira et al., 2002). As it does downstream of TGF- β signalling, Menin cooperates with Smad proteins to control expression of key regulatory factors to ultimately control pituitary prolactin levels (Lacerte et al., 2004).

1.3.4 Menin in the TGF-β pathway

Menin has been shown to cooperate with TGF- β to supress cell proliferation (Kaji et al., 2001), suggesting a role for Menin in the TGF- β mediated effects. The most important evidence is that Menin binds physically and specifically to Smad3, the major component of the TGF- β pathway (Kaji et al., 2001). The effect of Menin is known to occur downstream of Smad3 and Smad4 interaction, and it is believed to aid binding of the Smad complex to the DNA (Kaji et al., 2001). Other effects of TGF- β might require Menin as a study has shown that in MEFs (Menin-null Mouse Embryo Fibroblasts), expression of ECM proteins that are known to be induced by TGF- β were decreased (Ji et al., 2007). Inactivation of Menin was shown to specifically promote endocrine tumour formation (Hu et al., 1998; Kaji et al., 2001), which suggests that the TGF- β pathway is not the only one Menin is participating in, and there is likely to be a tissue specific component in regulating Menin.

1. 3. 5 A possible regulatory mechanism for Menin

Menin is largely known as a nuclear protein, but it was shown to have a different cellular localization depending on the cell cycle. It is expressed ubiquitously, and most of the roles it was associated with are not considered tissue-specific (Dreijerink et al., 2006), which is curious since mutation of MEN1 results in endocrine diseases more than non-endocrine diseases. Expression levels of Menin was shown to fluctuate according to cell cycle, and the expression of Menin increased as cells entered S phase (Kaji et al., 1999). TGF- β can stimulate Menin expression with as short as 30minutes of stimulation, and was observed to reach the maximum from one to three hours in rat pituitary cell line GH4 (Kaji et al., 2001). Recently, type III intermediate filaments Vimentin and Glial fibrillary acidic protein(GFAP), have been shown to interact with Menin, suggesting they might play a role in regulating the cellular localization of the protein, which seems to differ according to the cell cyles (Lopez-Egido et al., 2002).

1.3.6 Menin in other pathways

Other than the TGF- β pathway, Menin also seems to be essential in the canonical Wnt/ β catenin signalling in tumour cells. Menin physically binds to the proteins involved in the pathway such as β -Catenin and TCF3 (Chen et al., 2008). It modulates downstream target genes via trimethylation (Chen et al., 2008). Menin also plays a role in bone development, and it is required for the commitment of multipotential mesenchymal stem cells, suggesting it plays a role in the BMP pathway by interacting with BMP regulated Smads such as Smad1 and Smad5 (Hendy et al., 2005).

1.4 Objectives and Hypothesis

TGF- β has anti-tumor effects during premalignant stages, as it can promote cell cycle arrest, apoptosis in rapidly proliferating tumor cells. However, it can facilitate cancer progression in the late stages due to its ability to elicit trans-differentiation (EMT), by permitting the tumor cells to gain motility and invasive properties characteristic of a mesenchymal cell type. Menin was repeatedly shown to act downstream of many TGF- β family members (TGF- β , Activin, BMPs) to regulate some of these growth factor biological effects, particularly at the level of tumor suppression (Hendy et al., 2005; Kaji et al., 2001; Sowa et al., 2004). However, a potential role for menin in mediating the TGF- β pro-metastatic responses has not yet been investigated. My hypothesis is that menin, a known tumor suppressor, may also function as a factor for progression of cancer by participating in the TGF- β signaling pathway and its tumor progressive arm. My research project specifically aims at elucidating the role and contribution of menin downstream of TGF- β -induced cell migration, invasion and EMT in aggressive breast cancer cells.

1.5 Thesis Organization

The introduction of this thesis covered necessary facts and recent findings that need to be discussed in order to have a deeper understanding of the topics presented. Chapter II explains all the reagents and procedures that were used. The results are presented in Chapter III and subsequently discussed in Chapter IV. Finally, in chapter V, the thesis is summarized and some suggestions for the future are given.

2.1 Cell culture

All cell lines used are TGF-β responsive cells that have intact pathway components. Human mammary adenocarcinoma cell lines MCF7 (low invasiveness, many breast tissuespecific markers are intact), MDA-MB-231 (invasive phenotype, and many breast cell markers are lost), SCP2 (a metastatic subclone of MDA-MB-231, metastasizes to the bone), and SCP25 (a metastatic subclone of MDA-MB-231) were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM, GIBCO) supplemented with 10 % Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS, GIBCO), 2mM L-Glutamine (GIBCO), 1000 units/ml penicillin and 100µg/ml streptomycin (GIBCO). NMuMG (Normal mouse mammary gland) epithelial cells, which are good models for studies involving cell adhesion and growth factors, were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 2mM L-Glutamine, 1000 units/ml penicillin and 100µg/ml streptomycin, and insulin. Cells were grown at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5 % CO₂. Cells were passaged every third day (three times a week). Cells were detached from cell culture plates using trypsin (0.25%, Wisent), followed by washing with DMEM containing 10% FBS to neutralize the trypsin.

2.2 Plasmid constructs

The 3TP-lux reporter construct was a gift from Dr. Joan Massague (Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, New York). This promoter construct is a tool developed specifically for measuring TGF-β activated gene transcription activity. The construct contains TGF-β responsive element (Smad3 binding sites) of the Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor 1 (PAI-1) promoter region and is used to assess TGF-β/activin response.

2.3 Reagents

Human TGF-β1 #100-21R was purchased from Pepro Tech Inc. Rabbit monoclonal antibody against Menin was purchased from Bethyl Inc. Goat anti-rabbit Horse Radish Peroxidase (HRP) were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., CA. A-sepharose, Gsepharose beads were purchased from Amersham Biosciences/GE Healthcare (Quebec, Canada). Affinity purified rabbit anti-Menin antibody (A300-105A) was purchased from Bethyl Laboratories Inc. Anti Zo-1, N-cadherin, E-cadherin, Vimentin were bought from BD Biosciences. Anti β-tubulin (3F3-G2), Smad 2/3 (N19), and Smad 3 (FL425) antibodies were purchased from Santa Cruz. Anti αParp antibodies (33-3100) were purchased from Zymed, and anti-phosphosmad 2 (Ser 465/467) antibodies were bought from Cell Signalling.

2.4 Cell transfections

Menin expression was knocked down using small interfering RNA (siRNA) from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., CA (h: sc-35922, m: sc-35923), using Lipofectamine 2000 (invitrogen). Cells were seeded onto a 6-well plate in DMEM supplemented with 10% serum to let them attach and grow overnight. The following day, the cells were put in DMEM without serum and the cocktail containing the siRNA, Lipofectamine 2000, and Optimem (Invitrogen) was added after. The cocktail was applied overnight, around 16 to 20 hours. The cells were either collected or stimulated in starvation medium at this point. Starving the cells arrests their growth, which is

desireable for stimulation experiments since the reaction to a stimulant can be evaluated in a uniform population.

2.5 Cell viability assay (MTT colorimetric assay)

Cells were trypsinized and plated in 6-well dishes in complete medium (DMEM supplemented with 10%FBS and antibiotics as mentioned under section 2.1). The following day, cells were transfected or not with Menin siRNA (described under section 2.3). The next day, cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS 1X) at pH 7.4 (8g NaCl; 2g KCl; 11.5g Na₂HPO₄ H₂O; 2g KH₂PO₄ per liter for PBS 10X), trypsin-digested to detach, and plated in triplicates or quadruplicates in 96-well plates. After allowing the cells to fully attach to the plate surface overnight, human cells were starved in DMEM without FBS supplementation, with or without 100pM TGF-β1. Mouse cells (NMuMG) were starved in DMEM supplemented with 2% FBS.

After a given amount of stimulation/starvation, the yellow tetrazolium salt (MTT) is dissolved in 1XPBS (5mg/ml) and then added to the cells. The dye is successfully reduced only in metabolically active cells to form insoluble purple formazan crystals in the cells. Following 2 hours of incubation at 37°C, the crystals were then dissolved by the addition of DMSO. Sorenson's Glycine buffer (0.1M glycine, 0.1M NaCl, pH to 10.5) was added to the DMSO-dye mixture to adjust the pH. The amount of color was then quantified by measuring the absorbance at 570nm using a Microplate reader (BIOTEK Instruments Inc.).

2.6 qRT-PCR

2.6.1 RNA extraction

Following stimulation of the cells with TGF- β for an appropriate amount of time, total cell RNA was extracted using Trizol (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The cells were lysed directly in the culture dish by addition of Trizol and the resulting mix was completely homogenized using a pipette. RNA was extracted by adding Cloroform to the Trizol mix followed by centrifugation. Then the RNA was precipitated adding isopropanol followed by washing with 70% ethanol. The RNA pellets were air-dried, dissolved in RNase free water (GIBCO), and incubated at 65°C for complete dissolving of the pellet. The total RNA extracts were quantified by measuring the absorbance at 260nm (Optimal density OD 260 nm of 1= 40 μ g/ml of single stranded RNA) using a Microplate reader.

2.6.2 Reverse Transcription

cDNA synthesis was carried out using oligo-dT primers, using 2µg of total RNA and M-MLV reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen). Thermal cycling conditions were set as: 60min at 37 °C, 10min at 99 °C, and then cool to 4 °C. The resulting cDNA was diluted with RNase free water (GIBCO) and stored in -20 °C freezer until use.

2.6.3 Primers

The primers were designed using Primer3 program linked to the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI). Both human and mouse N-cadherin, Twist1 primers were designed using this program, followed by a BLAST(Basic Local Alignment Search Tool) search to confirm specificity. All of them were obtained from Invitrogen.

Human N-cadherin

Foreward primer: TGAAACGCCGGGATAAAGAACGCC

Reverse primer: GGTCTTTCATCCATTCGTCGGATTCCC
Human Twist1
Foreward primer: ACGCCTTCTCGGTCTGGAGGAT
Reverse primer: GCCCACGCCTGTTTCTTTGAA
Mouse N-cadherin
Foreward primer: CAAATGCCCTGAATGGAATGCTGCG
Reverse primer: GGCTGTGTTTGAAAGGCCATAAGTGGGG
Mouse Twist1
Foreward primer: TACGCCTTCTCCGTCTGGAGGAT
Reverse primer: CCCCACGCCCTGATTCTTGTGAA
GAPDH
Foreward primer: GCCTCAAGATCATCAGCAATGCCT
Reverse primer: TGTGGTCATGAGTCCTTCCACGAT

2.6.4 qRT-PCR

20µl of cDNA was used as template for quantitvative Polymerase Chain Reaction (q-PCR) using home-made *Taq* polymerase enzyme. After a complete denaturing step of 10minutes at 94 °C, 40 cycles of denaturation, annealing, and elongation were repeated. Cycling conditions used were: 10 seconds at 94 °C, 10 secondes at 58 °C, and 15 seconds at 72 °C. Final melting curve was obtained by heating the samples up to 99 °C.

2.7 Luciferase Reporter assay

2.7.1 Transfection

For reporter assays, β -galactosidase encoding plasmids were co-transfected with the luciferase reporter construct to serve as an internal control. All the values obtained from the luciferase assay were normalized using values obtained from β -galactosidase activities of each sample. 1µg of each plasmid were mixed into the transfection cocktail as discussed under section 2.4 cell transfections.

2.7.2 Luciferase assay

Cells were washed with cold 1X PBS pH7.4, then lysed and harvested on ice using luciferase assay extraction buffer (1% Triton X-100, 15mM MgSO₄, \$mM EGTA, 1mM DTT, 25mM glycylglycine, H₂O). After centrifugation and removal of pellet, 5µl of assay cocktail (H₂O, 0.1M ATP, 0.5M KH₂PO₄ pH7.8, 1M MgCl₂) is mixed with 45µl cell lysate in a well of white, opaque 96-well plate. Reading is done using luminometer (EG&G BERTHOLD microplate luminometer LB96V) that injects luciferin solution (25mM Luciferin stock, 0.1M KH₂PO₄).

2.7.3 β-gal assay

With the exact same lysates obtained for luciferase assay, β -gal assay was performed. 10µl of cell lysate was mixed with β -gal buffer (60mM Na₂HPO₄, 40mM NaH₂PO₄, 10mM KCl, 1mM MgCl₂, 50mM β -mercaptoethanol, H₂O) containing 1.5mg of ONPG per 1ml of β -gal buffer, in a clear 96-well plate followed by incubation at 37 °C until the samples develop faint yellow color. The color was measured at 420nm using a Microplate reader.

2.8 Immunoprecipitation

Cell lysates were prepared in the same way as described under 2.8.1 sample preparation up to the centrifugation step, without DTT in the lysis buffer. After removal of pellet, cell lysate samples were mixed with 1µg of antibody [Smad3 FL425 (Santa Cruz), Menin (Bethyl)] and the total volume was adjusted to reach 1ml. The mix was incubated overnight at 4 °C, while continually shaking. The next day, 40µ of either a 50% protein-A or protein-G sepharose beads (Santa Cruz) mix was added and further incubated in the same condition for 2 hours. After incubation, the beads were then collected and washed three times to remove non-bound proteins. The beads were then mixed with 2XSDS loading dye (Tris-HCl pH 6.8, SDS, glycerol, bromophenol blue) and heated to 100 °C for 5 minutes to elute protein from the bead. The beads were separated from liquid and were discarded and the remaining liquid containing the separated proteins was kept at -20 °C until an SDS-PAGE (see under western blot analysis) was ready to perform.

2.9 Western blot analysis

2.9.1 Sample preparation

Cells were washed with cold 1X PBS pH7.4, then lysed and harvested on ice using lysis buffer containing 1% Triton X-100 (50 mM Tris-Cl ph7.4, 150mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100,

1mM EDTA, 1mM EGTA, 1mM DTT, 100μM NaVO₄, 50mM β-glycerophosphate) supplemented with 100μM phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride (PMSF), 10μg/ml aprotinin, 10μg/ml leupeptin, and 10μg/ml pepstatin. After centrifugation and removal of pellet, the supernatant was mixed with 6XSDS loading dye (125mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 2% SDS, 20% glycerol, 0.2% bromophenol blue), 20ul of buffer for 100ul of lysate and were kept at -20 °C until ready to use. Samples were heated to 100 °C for 10minutes to completely denature the protein strands.

2.9.2 Protein quantification

Total protein concentration of each sample lysate was measured using Micro BCA Protein Assay Kit (Pierce), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Protein lysates were diluted with water (1 in 50), followed by the addition of BCA reagent and incubation at 37 °C for approximately 30minutes. A standard is also prepared in triplicates with bovine albumin on the same plate, with the addition of the same reagents. The optical density was measured using a Microplate reader, at 562nm. Readings of samples will be compared to the standard curve obtained to calculate protein concentration.

2.9.3 SDS-PAGE and transfer

Sample lysates containing 80µg of protein were separated by SDS-PAGE (Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis), using electrophoresis apparatus from BIO-RAD. After separation in the gel, proteins were transferred to 0.2 µm nitrocellulose membranes (BIO RAD) to proceed with detection of specific proteins through immunoblotting. A semi-dry transfer apparatus (The W.E.P. Company) was used, and the proteins were transferred in a puddle of transfer buffer (Tris-Cl, Glycine, methanol) at 15 volts for approximately 75 minutes where the volts were kept constant.

2.9.4 Immunoblotting

The nitrocellulose membrane was blocked by soaking in blocking buffer (10mM Tris-Cl pH7.5, 150mM NaCl, 0.05% Tween 20, 5% non-fat dry milk) for 1 hour. Following a wash, a gelatin solution (10mM Tris pH 7.5, 150mM NaCl, 0.05% Tween20, 0.25% Gelatin, 0.05% NaAzide) containing the appropriate antibody was applied to the membrane and was left gently rocking for 16 hours at 4 °C. The membrane was washed with washing buffer (50mM Tris pH 7.5, 200mM NaCl, 0.05% Tween 20) and was incubated in blocking buffer containing secondary antibody linked with horseradish peroxidise for one hour at room temperature. After three 10 minute washes with washing buffer, the membrane is treated with home-made ECL chemiluminescent reagents (luminol, p-coumaric acid, H_2O_2) to visualize the bands detectd by antibodies using an Alpha Innotech imager (Cell Biosciences).

2.10 Microscopy

Cells were grown on 13mm non-coated glass coverslips by fitting the sterilized glass slides on to the bottom of the wells of 6-well plates, filling the wells with DMEM supplemented with FBS and then seeding the cells. When the cells reached 90% confluency, they were transfected as described under 2.4 transfections section. After transfection and appropriate amount of stimulation, cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in 1XPBS at room

temperature for 15minutes. Fixed cells were permeablized by treating with 0.5% Triton-X-100 in 1XPBS for 30 minutes, washed three times with 1XPBS, and blocked with 4% BSA in 1XPBS for 30 miutes. Then the cells were incubated for 1 hour with the primary antibody diluted in 1XPBS (1:500 dilution of rabbit anti-Menin antibody). After three washings with 1XPBS, the cells were incubated for 1 hour with antibodies linked to a fluorophore diluted in 1XPBS (Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-mouse IgG H+L, Alexa Fluor 568 goat anti-rabbit IgG H+L, both from Invitrogen). Cover slips were mounted and observed using a LSM-510 Laser scanning microscope (Zeiss).

Chapter III: Results

3.1 Menin interacts with Smad3 in Breast Cancer Cells

Menin is a ubiquitously expressed protein that is conserved among a wide variety of species. It seems to act differently in endocrine cells compared to non-endocrine cells, since its mutation is linked frequently with endocrine tumors while non-endocrine tumors are relatively rare. This suggests that there is a tissue-specific regulation of Menin, as it is always present in all types of cells, ruling out the possibility of differential expression of Menin being responsible for the different rates of tumor development in different tissues. Co-immunoprecipitation experiments proved that Menin interacts physically and specifically with Smad3 of the TGF- β pathway in Rat pituitary GH4C1 cell lines (Kaji et al., 2001). To verify whether Menin interacts with Smad 3 in cell lines of breast tissue origin, different breast cancer cell lines MCF-7 and SCP2 (a subclone of MDA-MB-231) that are highly responsive to TGF- β stimulation were used. These breast cancer cell lines exhibit different level of malignancy, SCP2 being highly tumorigenic and metastatic, and MCF-7 being poorly tumorigenic and non-metastatic.

Cells were treated with TGF- β for different lengths of time, and the cell lysates were collected to immunoprecipitate either Menin or Smad3 to immunoblot for the other. The results revealed the interaction of Menin and Smad3 in short time frames but not in a relatively longer, 24 hour time frame (data not shown) suggesting that Smad 3-Menin interaction is quickly induced and relatively short-lived.

A. Non-metastatic Breast Cancer Cells



B. Metastatic Breast Cancer Cells



Figure 3.1: Menin interacts with Smad3 in cell lines of breast tissue origin. MCF-7 and SCP2 cells (subclones of MDA-MB-231) were stimulated or not with TGF- β for different lengths of time as indicated. Total cell lysates collected from treacted cells were incubated with either Smad3 or Menin antibodies to immunoprecipitate one and detect the other for confirmation.

A. SCP2

•	^	D	-	
3	L	г	2	
	_	_	_	

Mock		Control		Smad3		Menin		siRNA	
-	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	TG	ìF-β
	100500			(constant)	-testari			IB:	Menin
		-	-	-	-		-	IB:	β-tubulin

B. NMuMG (Normal mouse mammary gland cells)



Figure 3.2: Comparison of knock-down efficiencies of Menin siRNA. SCP2 and NMuMG cells were transfected with specific siRNA targeted towards Menin using Lipofectamine 2000. The lysates collected from treated cells were analyzed through western blotting. The membrane was probed with rabbit anti-Menin antibody and mouse anti- β -tubulin antibody. β -tubulin served as loading controls. The lysates analyzed in figure 3.2 B were collected using the leftover extracts from a luciferase assay, shown in figure 3.3.

3.2 Efficiency of siRNA

The choice of siRNA (small interfering RNA) was essential in this study, as it was important to compare and contrast the effects of TGF- β in the presence of Menin and in the absence of Menin. Two types of siRNA were used in this project, one against human Menin and the other against mouse Menin, both purchased from Santa Cruz. Cells were transfected with increasing amounts of Menin siRNA (data not shown) to determine the optimal concentration of siRNA, which was then applied to all subsequent experiments. The optimum level of knockdown was achieved with 60nM concentration of siRNA (data not shown).

As Menin was successfully knocked down by siRNA specific for Menin, siRNA from Santa Cruz was used in the following sections to assess the function of Menin in the TGF- β pathway. The concentration of siRNA in each experiment was set at 60nM. Knocking down Menin did not alter expression of other proteins. Another point to note from this figure is that the amount of Menin protein seems to moderately increase with TGF- β treatment, as it can be shown from both figures. This is in fact consistent with previously published data in the literature (Kaji et al., 2001; Lacerte et al., 2004; Lebrun, 2009).

3.3 Tumor suppressive effects of TGF-β

3.3.1 Menin Knock-down effects on TGF-β transcriptional activation

To determine the role of Menin in TGF- β -mediated activation of gene transcription, a TGF- β -responsive gene promoter construct was employed. 3TP-lux contains three consecutive TREs (TPA responsive elements) and a portion of the PAI-1(Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor 1) promoter, which contains Smad 3 binding elements, and it gives sensitive readings which makes it useful for this purpose. Cells were co-transfected all at the same time with promoter constructs with or without siRNA, without doubling the Lipofectamine reagent compared to siRNA transfections. After 16 hours of treatment, the cells were stimulated or not with TGF- β in serum-free medium without addition of any other growth hormones (see 2.4 cell transfections for more information). Lysates were collected after 24 hours of treatment with TGF- β , and the luciferase activity was assessed.

As shown in the following figure, none of the breast tissue cell lines tested displayed any difference in the level of activity in the presence or absence of Menin. This suggests that Menin might not be essential when it comes to transcriptional regulation by TGF- β in breast cancer cell lines although it was shown to be important in other cell types (Hendy et al., 2005; Sowa et al., 2004), suggesting a possible tissue specific role of Menin.



A. NMuMG

TGF-β: - + - +

B. MDA-MB-231





C. SCP2



 $TGF-\beta$: - + - + - +
Figure 3.3: Knocking Down Menin in breast cancer cell lines does not seem to affect transcriptional activation brought on by TGF- β . NMuMG, MDA-MB-231, and SCP2 cells were co-transfected with 1µg of 3TP-lux reporter plasmid, 1µg of β -galactosidase expression plasmid as a control, and with or without 60nM Menin siRNA. After 16 hours of transfection, the cells were treated or not with 100pM TGF- β for 24 hours. The TGF- β response was measured by relative luciferase activities and were normalized to the relative β -galactosidase activities. Results represent the average and standard deviations of three independent experiments.

3.3.2 Menin knock-down and TGF-β mediated inhibition of cell proliferation

TGF- β is known to cause cell cycle arrest in various cell lines. To assess the role of Menin in TGF- β -induced cell cycle arrest, cells were transfected or not with Menin siRNA to knock down the levels of the protein. After transfection and stimulation with TGF- β for varying lengths of time (minimum 72 hours), cell viability was measured by performing MTT assay. MTT assay is an indirect method of measuring cell viability, as it measures the amount of waterinsoluble purple formazan crystals formed by active enzymatic processing of water soluble tetrazolium dye (MTT).

TGF- β stimulation in non-treated cells resulted in 20 ~ 60% decrease in cell viability (growth inhibition). Menin does not seem to affect this aspect of TGF- β effects as it can be seen to make very little difference on cell viability. This suggests that Menin might not play a significant role in TGF- β mediated cell growth control. MDA and SCP2 cells were omitted as they have already selectively lost their response to TGF- β in terms of cell growth control (data not shown).

A) MCF7 breast cancer cells



MTT assay - 72 hours

MTT assay – 96 hours



B) NMuMG



MTT assay - 96 hours

Figure 3.4: Cell viability does not seem to be greatly affected by the levels of Menin. MTT assays were performed on MCF-7 breast cancer cells and normal breast cell line NMuMG. MCF-7 and NMuMG cells were mock transfected or transfected with siRNA specific towards Menin. Then the cells were treated or not with TGF- β for the amounts of time indicated in the figure before assessing cell viability by measuring the amount of resulting formazan crystals. Values are representative of experiments performed in quadruplicates. Results from panel B represent the average and standard deviations of three independent experiments. The units used to depict cell viability are arbitrary units, setting the reading obtained from untreated cells as 100%.

3.4 Tumor promoting effects of TGF-β

3.4.1 TGF-β affects cell migration, cell shape, and EMT

TGF- β is a known factor that causes EMT. EMT is an important process in development, as it can let cells switch phenotypes and form appropriate structures depending on the need.

When EMT occurs in tumors, it is dangerous as it gives tumor cells the capacity to invade and metastasize. EMT involves the loss of epithelial cell polarity, separation of cells and acquisition of motility (Vincent-Salomon and Thiery, 2003). EMT can also be noted by the change of Cadherin expressions. The level of Cadherin expression dictates the strength of cell-cell adhesion (Steinberg and Takeichi, 1994), and Cadherin type is known to determine the specificity of the interactions(Nose et al., 1988).

To evaluate the role of Menin in TGF- β , NMuMG and SCP2 cells were used. NMuMG cells were transfected or not with siRNA duplexes specific to Menin to knock-down Menin, followed by stimulation with TGF- β . After 24 hours of stimulation, the cells were stained with EMT markers, F-actin or N-Cadherin, to observe changes under confocal microscope. SCP2 cells were used to evaluate migratory capacities of cells after transfection with siRNA to knock-down Menin.

As shown in Figure 3.5 (A), TGF- β stimulation results in formation of strong stress fibers in relatively thick, organized bundles. This is an important sign of EMT, as stress fibers are traits of fibroblasts, and these fibers are closely associated with cell adhesion and motility (Hotulainen and Lappalainen, 2006). Knock-down of Menin seems to cause weakening of stress fiber bundles, thinning them and shortening them, and weakening of stress fiber directionality can also be observed. These results suggest Menin might play a role in TGF- β mediated EMT and cell motility, through an unknown mechanism that involves actin assembly.

A) Mock transfected cells

TGF**-**β:



B) Menin knocked down with specific siRNA

TGF**-**β:



+



Figure 3.5: Stress fiber bundle (F-actin) formation before and after 24 hours TGF- β stimulation (100pM) in NMuMG cell line. NMuMG cells grown on non-coated glass coverslips (13mm) were mock transfected (A) or transfected with siRNA specific towards Menin (B). Cells were stimulated or not with TGF- β for 24 hours before they were stained using anti-F-actin antibody followed by appropriate secondary antibody linked to green fluorophore. The images shown are representative images selected from at least six pictures taken from different visual fields.

Changes in N-Cadherin levels are one of the classic signs of EMT. TGF- β is known to up-regulate N-Cadherin, a cell-cell adhesion molecule that is associated with cell motility and increased invasiveness of tumor cells: N-Cadherins are known to localize at the ends of F-actin microfilament bundles, and blocking antibody specific towards N-Cadherin are known to suppress spreading and migration of cells, inhibiting wound repair (Jones et al., 2002).

As shown in figure 3.6 (A), TGF- β normally brings about up-regulations in N-Cadherin levels, especially at the tips of the cell projections between neighbouring cells. Cells treated with siRNA specific towards Menin seemed to have undergone no change or very little change with TGF- β stimulation. Menin Knock-down cells stimulated with TGF- β lack the N-Cadherin upregulation at the cell projections, which is present in mock transfected cells stimulated with TGF- β . In addition to the difference observed in N-Cadherin, cell morphology seems to differ; mock transfected cells went through a change in cell shape, spreading out and forming fingerlike projections, while Menin-specific siRNA treated cells failed to undergo much change.

A) Mock transfected cells

TGF**-**β:



+

+

B) Menin knocked down with specific siRNA

TGF**-**β:



Figure 3.6: N-Cadherin localization, cell morphology before and after 24 hours TGF- β stimulation. NMuMG cells grown on non-coated glass coverslips (13mm) were mock transfected (A) or transfected with siRNA specific towards Menin (B). Cells were stimulated or not with TGF- β for 24 hours before they were stained using anti-N-Cadherin antibody followed by appropriate secondary antibody linked to green fluorophore. The images shown are representative images selected from at least six pictures taken from different visual fields.

Migration is a dynamic phenomenon that is fundamental in various physiological processes such as inflammation, wound-healing, angiogenesis, and embryonic development (Schmidt et al., 1994). It is an important process that is involved in cancer metastasis (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). TGF- β is known to mediate these processes, and to determine if Menin participates in bringing about this aspect of TGF- β , a set of cell migration assay known as "the wound healing assay" was performed. This assay involves letting cells grow on cell culture plates, followed by making a consistent narrow scratch after the appropriate transfections, and stimulation with TGF- β for at least 48 hours. The wound was compared under a microscope after completion of 48 hours of stimulation.

(A) Mock transfected SCP2 cells

TGF**-**β:



+



(B) Menin siRNA transfected SCP2 cells

TGF-β:



+



Figure 3.7: TGF-\beta mediated wound healing in SCP2 cells. SCP2 cells grown on 6-well plates were mock transfected (A) or transfected with siRNA specific towards Menin (B). A thin scratch was made directly on cells in a straight line to observe and compare the amount of wound closure after stimulation. Cells were stimulated or not with TGF- β for 48 hours before they were observed under the microscope. The images shown are representative images selected from at least six pictures taken from different visual fields. The graph is an average of six visual fields.

As it can be seen from figure 3.7, there is a good possibility that Menin might play an important role in TGF- β mediated cell migration. In mock transfected cells, 48 hours of stimulation with TGF- β resulted in wound closure by more than 20% compared to the unstimulated (similar to the initial scratch- data not shown). In cells transfected with siRNA duplex targeted towards Menin, the wound does not close at all.

NMuMG



Figure 3.8: The effect of Menin knock-down on levels of N-Cadherin. NMuMG cells were transfected with specific siRNA targeted towards Menin, followed by stimulation with TGF- β for up to 48 hours. A western blot was performed on NMuMG lysates collected after transfection and stimulation. The membrane was probed with anti-N-Cadherin antibody (upper panel), anti-Menin antibody (middle panel), and anti- β -tubulin antibody (lower panel) for loading control. The lysates analyzed were collected using Triton X lysis buffer. Negative results (blots performed with E-cadherin, SIP-1, Vimentin) are not shown.

3.5 Effect of Menin on N-cadherin transcript level and protein level

N-Cadherin is an important factor in cell migration and EMT process, and is a gene that is known to be upregulated by TGF- β . To determine the effect of Menin on TGF- β mediated N-Cadherin upregulation, some qRT-PCR (quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction) was performed using RNA from NMuMG normal mammary gland cells as these are known to be a good model for EMT (Xie et al., 2003).

NMuMG cells were transfected with siRNA targeted against Menin followed by TGF-β stimulation. As shown in figure 3.8, knock down of Menin using specific siRNA not only resulted in diminished Menin protein levels, but also a drastic reduction in N-Cadherin levels. TGF-β stimulation induces strong levels of N-Cadherin expression, but Menin knock down cells failed to express strong levels of N-Cadherin, suggesting a role for Menin in TGF-β mediated EMT process. The level of change of N-Cadherin mRNA upon knocking down Menin needs further experimentation with various time points to be meaningful (preliminary time-course data not shown).

To summarize, this thesis explores the role of Menin in the TGF- β pathway. Menin seems to be upregulated by TGF- β itself (see figure 3.8), and although it does not seem to play an important role in TGF- β mediated tumor suppressive effects (cell cycle arrest and apoptosis), it does seem to have an effect on phenomena related to TGF- β mediated tumor progression (cell migration, EMT). This thesis shows that Menin may not have an effect on TGF- β activation of gene transcription mediated by Smad 3 using 3TP-lux luciferase construct and siRNA targeted towards Menin specifically. Menin might not play an important role in TGF- β mediated suppression of cell proliferation, as shown by the MTT assay, an indirect method of measuring

84

cell viability (to obtain an idea of the cell population). Contrary to its role as tumor suppressor, Menin was shown to possess a potentially tumor progressive role through participating in the TGF- β pathway: Menin might affect cell migration as shown in the wound-healing assay (see figure 3.7); It might affect the EMT process by potentially controlling N-Cadherin levels or actin assembly (see figure 3.5).

TGF- β is a multifunctional cytokine, developed to control numerous processes with its main goal being the maintenance of homeostasis (Cui et al., 1996). The cytokine is known to exert tumour suppressive effects in normal cells and in early stage cancer cells but late stage cancer cells, through acquisition of mutations in the genes pertaining to the TGF-β pathway, can use the cytokine to their advantage (Massague, 2008). There are multiple evidences suggesting TGF-β contribution to cancer progression and metastasis (Cui et al., 1996; Massague, 2008), which is mainly due to TGF- β mediated EMT that contributes to cancer progression in several ways such as actin reorganization, upregulation of mesenchymal markers, and increased cell motility (Boland et al., 1996; Derynck and Akhurst, 2007; Padua and Massague, 2009). In addition, TGF-β modulation allows cancer cells to evade immune surveillance (Li and Flavell, 2008), the natural mechanism that the body uses to detect and fight off foreign matters, which includes cancer cells. It is thus no surprise elevated levels of TGF-B are found in tumors in vivo (Cui et al., 1996). These negative properties of TGF-β led to the development of TGF-β blockers, which consists mainly of large molecules such as antibodies, to eliminate the tool that the cancer uses to its advantage (Massague, 2008). However, the pathway is far from simple and further uncovering and dissecting components in the TGF-β pathway is essential to narrow down drug targets and improve cancer treatment.

Menin is an elusive protein with no definite function that was shown to interact with Smad 3, a major player in the TGF- β canonical pathway (Kaji et al., 2001). In this study, the role

of Menin in the TGF- β pathway was investigated through a battery of experiments testing for all known effects of TGF- β .

4.1 Possible Regulation of Menin expression by TGF-β

Menin is a widely expressed protein that assumes nuclear localization except for during cell division and immediately after cell division, where it was shown to be cytoplasmic (Huang et al., 1999). This cytoplasmic sequestration is possibly mediated by type III intermediate filaments (Lopez-Egido et al., 2002) which increases after stimulation with TGF- β (Derynck and Akhurst, 2007), and its expression level was shown to be regulated by a feedback from the protein itself (Zablewska et al., 2003). From the western blot results obtained, Menin also seems to be a target of the TGF- β pathway, as it can be seen from figure 3.8 A where stimulation of NMuMG cells with TGF- β resulted in an increase of the protein level in 24 hours. Further investigation is required to determine if this up-regulation of Menin is present in breast cancer cell lines and at what level the regulation takes place, and if the regulation is a direct rather than an indirect one. Also, the possibility of Menin phosphorylation after TGF- β stimulation should be examined.

4.2 The effect of Menin on TGF-β mediated cellular responses

4.2.1 Effect on Cytostasis and Apoptosis

TGF- β has already been shown to be a potent cell growth suppressor (Roberts et al., 1986), and Menin itself also plays a role in apoptosis. Over-expression of Menin was shown to

induce apoptosis in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEF cells are often used in cancer research due to their similarities shared with human fibroblasts), while loss of Menin caused loss of the apoptotic response (Schnepp et al., 2004). Furthermore, mutating the gene MEN1 was shown to acutely enhance proliferation of pancreatic islet cells (Schnepp et al., 2006), and reduction of Menin expression was shown to enhance cell proliferation in intestinal epithelial cells (Ratineau et al., 2004). It has been shown that Menin might act through the induction of CDK inhibitors, p27 and p18 (Karnik et al., 2005), which were also shown to be responsive to TGF-β.

Since Menin and TGF- β appear to have similar effects, the possible contribution of Menin in the TGF- β mediated inhibition of cell proliferation was assessed using MTT cell viability assay. Contrary to what was expected, the results showed that Menin likely to be not involved in regulating cell proliferation downstream of TGF- β , as cells transfected with siRNA duplexes specifically targeting Menin did not differ from mock transfected cells. This suggests that Menin and TGF- β might act independently on cell cycle arrest/inhibition of proliferation/apoptosis, and Menin does not play a role in TGF- β mediated cell growth control.

4.2.2 Effect on Transcriptional Activation of TGF-β regulated genes

TGF- β stimulation results in activation of the Smad proteins to relay the signal to the nucleus and make changes in gene transcription. Each Smad 4/R-Smad/cofactor complex targets a different set of genes, and the complex recruits coactivators or corepressors and chromatin remodelling factors to control each gene (Massague, 2008). Menin was found in histone methyltransferase complexes, it participates in transcriptional regulation of hormone responsive genes, and it was shown to be a cofactor for Smad dependent transcription in certain cell lines

88

(Sowa et al., 2003). Based on these data obtained from the literature, it appeared likely that Menin might act as an essential cofactor in the transcriptional activation of genes responsive to TGF- β in cells of breast tissue origin.

To test this aspect of TGF- β mediated effects, a reporter construct was employed along with specific siRNA to knock down Menin levels. 3TP-lux construct, which contains three TPA responsive elements and a portion of the PAI-1 promoter linked to a luciferase gene as a reporter, is highly responsive towards TGF- β stimulation and it serves as a good tool to test TGF- β activated gene transcription (Wrana et al., 1992). Cotransfection of the construct and siRNA followed by 24 hour stimulation and assessment of the luciferase activity in each sample suggested no change in reporter activity after Menin knock down (see figure 3.4). This suggests that there may be some level of difference among tissues in Menin mechanism of action. In cells of breast tissue origin, Menin might not play a great role in TGF- β mediated transcriptional activation, but rather, it might play yet an unknown role that needs to be investigated.

4.2.3 Induction of EMT

EMT is a complex process that involves the loss of polarity, reorganization of the cytoskeleton, and re-distribution of organelles (Thiery, 2003), ultimately changing the cell phenotype. TGF- β is a known modulator of cell phenotype in vivo (Cui et al., 1996; Roberts et al., 1986), and because of this property of TGF- β , it increases malignant conversion rate despite its potent effect in suppressing the induction of tumors (Cui et al., 1996). Since Menin is an interacting partner of Smad 3, there was a possibility that Menin might play a role in regulating proteins related to EMT. The role of Menin in the TGF- β mediated EMT was investigated, by

89

analyzing the change in levels of EMT marker proteins such as N-Cadherin, Vimentin, E-Cadherin, SIP-1.

The only noticeable effect was seen in N-Cadherin levels (see figure 3.8 A). Compared to the mock transfected cells, cells transfected with siRNA targeted specifically towards Menin, showed a noticeable decrease in N-Cadherin levels.

To check the level of N-Cadherin mRNA transcripts, specific primers were designed and were used to perform quantitative PCR on total RNA converted to cDNA after treating the cell or not with siRNA targeting Menin and TGF- β stimulation for 24 hours. The results of the PCR did not show much difference in N-Cadherin transcript levels of mock transfected cells and cells transfected with siRNA targeted against Menin.

Based on the obtained data, Menin seems to help bring about changes associated with EMT, in response to TGF- β stimulation. However, the level of action of Menin needs to be confirmed, as it does not seem to act on transcription although it does interact with Smad 3 (see figure 3.1) and it does affect N-Cadherin protein levels (see figure 3.8 A).

4.2.4 Effect on Migration

TGF- β is an important factor affecting migration, by regulating the expression of ECM proteins and cell adhesion molecules such as the Cadherins. N-Cadherin is of special interest, as it is known to actively promote cell motility and invasion (Nieman et al., 1999), and was shown to be a required factor for cell migration during TGF- β mediated EMT process. Since Menin was also shown to be important for the ECM and cell adhesion (Ji et al., 2007) and Menin seemed to

affect N-Cadherin levels (see figure 3.8A), the possibility of Menin playing a role in TGF- β induction of cell migration needed to be confirmed.

To assess the effect of Menin in TGF- β mediated cell migration, a wound-healing assay was employed. SCP2 metastatic breast cancer cell line, which has lost all cytostatic response to TGF- β , was used. The wound made onto mock transfected cells containing intact Menin was shown to regress after treatment with TGF- β , whereas the wound made on cells that were transfected with specific siRNA to knock down Menin did not display any sign of regression. This may be the result of Menin knock down resulting in downregulation of N-Cadherin protein levels, as N-Cadherins are known to be an important factor in cell migration (Nieman et al., 1999).

Examination of stress fiber formation and N-Cadherin distribution indicates a possible requirement of Menin in the TGF- β pathway to properly convert cell characteristics from non-motile to motile. N-Cadherin localization to the finger-like projections which was seen in mock transfected cells seemed to be absent in Menin knock down cells, and in fact, the cell morphology was seen to be drastically different from the mock, missing the finger-like projections altogether. Stress fibers are traits of fibroblasts, and are needed for contractile motion which aids in cell motility. Knocking down Menin seems to interfere with the organization of the fiber bundles, making the bundles thinner and more irregular which might explain the results obtained in the wound healing assay.

91

5.1 Conclusion

Menin, the protein product of MEN1 gene, is a protein ubiquitously expressed throughout the body in abundance (Dreijerink et al., 2009). Its effects seem to differ in endocrine tissues and non endocrine tissues, judging from the fact that its mutation is more often linked with endocrine tumors than non-endocrine (Guo and Sawicki, 2001). Although it does not have a clear role defined, results from many different groups seem to suggest a tumor suppressive role for Menin. Menin was also shown to play a significant role in the TGF- β pathway, by interacting with Smad3, which is the cytoplasmic component of the TGF- β pathway, involved in interacting with cofactors to activate/repress genes in the nucleus upon TGF- β signal activation (Kaji et al., 2001).

TGF- β effects are divided into two large arms, one being the tumor suppressive and the other being tumor progressive (Massague, 2008). Menin, by interacting with Smad 3 downstream of TGF- β , likely plays some role in response to TGF- β . Menin is widely accepted as a tumor suppressor protein, stemming from the observation that in the absence of the protein, tumors tend to develop. If it had a role downstream of TGF- β , it seemed logical that Menin would play a role in the tumor suppressive arm of TGF- β . Contrary to expected, Menin does not seem to play a significant role in controlling the cell growth and activating apoptosis in mammary epithelial cells and tumors derived from mammary epithelial cell types, based on cell proliferation assay (MTT assay) results. Although Menin does seem to interact with Smad3 in cell lines of breast tissue origin, it is possible that in the types of cells tested, Menin-Smad3

92

interaction to affect transcription is not the major mechanism of action of Menin in the TGF- β pathway.

It is possible that Menin does play a role in the TGF- β pathway, since its absence was observed to lower the levels of N-Cadherin protein and affect F-actin organization. This would suggest Menin functions to regulate TGF- β related tumor progressive effecs, which contradicts its name as a tumor suppressor. However, this is not the only observation that Menin might have pro-cancer roles. Menin was recently shown to be essential in leukemogenesis, by interacting with MLL (Myeloid/lymphoid or mixed-lineage leukemia), which is a large nuclear protein involved in maintenance of gene expression during development (Yokoyama and Cleary, 2008).

5.2 Future directions

The role of Menin is still unclear, but there is some evidence that suggests that it might be playing a role in the TGF- β pathway, particularly the tumor progressive arm of TGF- β . This proposes a possible new role of Menin: A protein accepted widely as a tumor suppressor protein actually participates in a pathway known to promote cancer progression to exert its effects. The following studies may be of interest: 1) Assessment of EMT characteristics after siRNA knockdown of Menin followed with a much longer time course, as in some studies EMT changes were shown to be more noticeable as the length of stimulation was extended; 2) assess the role of Menin in modulating N-cadherin gene, or Twist1 gene that was recently shown to have control over N-Cadherin transcription(Alexander et al., 2006); 3) investigate whether or not Menin is phosphorylated by TGF- β stimulation; 4) investigate the involvement of histone deacetylase/acetyltransferase complexes in the mechanism of action of Menin, by coimmunoprecipitation experiments to confirm physical interaction and incorporating histone acetylase/deacetylase inhibiting compounds into experiments. Further investigation of the role of Menin in TGF- β mediated control over EMT related genes other than N-Cadherin also seems to be a promising project.

Also, to strengthen the conclusion that TGF- β mediated cell cycle arrest and apoptosis is indeed independent of Menin, cell cycle analysis should be performed to be paired with apoptosis measurements.

Bibliography

Abdollah, S., Macias-Silva, M., Tsukazaki, T., Hayashi, H., Attisano, L., and Wrana, J. L. (1997). TbetaRI phosphorylation of Smad2 on Ser465 and Ser467 is required for Smad2-Smad4 complex formation and signaling. J Biol Chem *272*, 27678-27685.

Agarwal, S. K., Guru, S. C., Heppner, C., Erdos, M. R., Collins, R. M., Park, S. Y., Saggar, S., Chandrasekharappa, S. C., Collins, F. S., Spiegel, A. M., *et al.* (1999). Menin interacts with the AP1 transcription factor JunD and represses JunD-activated transcription. Cell *96*, 143-152.

Agarwal, S. K., Novotny, E. A., Crabtree, J. S., Weitzman, J. B., Yaniv, M., Burns, A. L., Chandrasekharappa, S. C., Collins, F. S., Spiegel, A. M., and Marx, S. J. (2003). Transcription factor JunD, deprived of menin, switches from growth suppressor to growth promoter. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 10770-10775.

Alexander, N. R., Tran, N. L., Rekapally, H., Summers, C. E., Glackin, C., and Heimark, R. L. (2006). N-cadherin gene expression in prostate carcinoma is modulated by integrin-dependent nuclear translocation of Twist1. Cancer Res *66*, 3365-3369.

Allinen, M., Beroukhim, R., Cai, L., Brennan, C., Lahti-Domenici, J., Huang, H., Porter, D., Hu, M., Chin, L., Richardson, A., *et al.* (2004). Molecular characterization of the tumor microenvironment in breast cancer. Cancer Cell *6*, 17-32.

Annes, J. P., Munger, J. S., and Rifkin, D. B. (2003). Making sense of latent TGFbeta activation. J Cell Sci 116, 217-224.

Ashcroft, G. S., Yang, X., Glick, A. B., Weinstein, M., Letterio, J. L., Mizel, D. E., Anzano, M., Greenwell-Wild, T., Wahl, S. M., Deng, C., and Roberts, A. B. (1999). Mice lacking Smad3 show accelerated wound healing and an impaired local inflammatory response. Nat Cell Biol *1*, 260-266.

Attisano, L., and Lee-Hoeflich, S. T. (2001). The Smads. Genome Biol 2, REVIEWS3010.

Attisano, L., and Wrana, J. L. (2000). Smads as transcriptional co-modulators. Curr Opin Cell Biol *12*, 235-243.

Bardeesy, N., Cheng, K. H., Berger, J. H., Chu, G. C., Pahler, J., Olson, P., Hezel, A. F., Horner, J., Lauwers, G. Y., Hanahan, D., and DePinho, R. A. (2006). Smad4 is dispensable for normal pancreas development yet critical in progression and tumor biology of pancreas cancer. Genes Dev *20*, 3130-3146.

Bazzi, W., Renon, M., Vercherat, C., Hamze, Z., Lacheretz-Bernigaud, A., Wang, H., Blanc, M., Roche, C., Calender, A., Chayvialle, J. A., *et al.* (2008). MEN1 missense mutations impair sensitization to apoptosis induced by wild-type menin in endocrine pancreatic tumor cells. Gastroenterology *135*, 1698-1709 e1692.

Bhowmick, N. A., Chytil, A., Plieth, D., Gorska, A. E., Dumont, N., Shappell, S., Washington, M. K., Neilson, E. G., and Moses, H. L. (2004). TGF-beta signaling in fibroblasts modulates the oncogenic potential of adjacent epithelia. Science *303*, 848-851.

Biswas, S., Chytil, A., Washington, K., Romero-Gallo, J., Gorska, A. E., Wirth, P. S., Gautam, S., Moses, H. L., and Grady, W. M. (2004). Transforming growth factor beta receptor type II inactivation promotes the establishment and progression of colon cancer. Cancer Res *64*, 4687-4692.

Biswas, S., Guix, M., Rinehart, C., Dugger, T. C., Chytil, A., Moses, H. L., Freeman, M. L., and Arteaga, C. L. (2007). Inhibition of TGF-beta with neutralizing antibodies prevents radiation-induced acceleration of metastatic cancer progression. J Clin Invest *117*, 1305-1313.

Boland, S., Boisvieux-Ulrich, E., Houcine, O., Baeza-Squiban, A., Pouchelet, M., Schoevaert, D., and Marano, F. (1996). TGF beta 1 promotes actin cytoskeleton reorganization and migratory phenotype in epithelial tracheal cells in primary culture. J Cell Sci *109 (Pt 9)*, 2207-2219.

Bonni, S., Wang, H. R., Causing, C. G., Kavsak, P., Stroschein, S. L., Luo, K., and Wrana, J. L. (2001). TGF-beta induces assembly of a Smad2-Smurf2 ubiquitin ligase complex that targets SnoN for degradation. Nat Cell Biol *3*, 587-595.

Brandi, M. L., Gagel, R. F., Angeli, A., Bilezikian, J. P., Beck-Peccoz, P., Bordi, C., Conte-Devolx, B., Falchetti, A., Gheri, R. G., Libroia, A., *et al.* (2001). Guidelines for diagnosis and therapy of MEN type 1 and type 2. J Clin Endocrinol Metab *86*, 5658-5671.

Busygina, V., Kottemann, M. C., Scott, K. L., Plon, S. E., and Bale, A. E. (2006). Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 interacts with forkhead transcription factor CHES1 in DNA damage response. Cancer Res *66*, 8397-8403.

Busygina, V., Suphapeetiporn, K., Marek, L. R., Stowers, R. S., Xu, T., and Bale, A. E. (2004). Hypermutability in a Drosophila model for multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Hum Mol Genet *13*, 2399-2408.

Chandrasekharappa, S. C., Guru, S. C., Manickam, P., Olufemi, S. E., Collins, F. S., Emmert-Buck, M. R., Debelenko, L. V., Zhuang, Z., Lubensky, I. A., Liotta, L. A., *et al.* (1997). Positional cloning of the gene for multiple endocrine neoplasia-type 1. Science *276*, 404-407.

Cheifetz, S., Bellon, T., Cales, C., Vera, S., Bernabeu, C., Massague, J., and Letarte, M. (1992). Endoglin is a component of the transforming growth factor-beta receptor system in human endothelial cells. J Biol Chem *267*, 19027-19030.

Chen, G., A, J., Wang, M., Farley, S., Lee, L. Y., Lee, L. C., and Sawicki, M. P. (2008). Menin promotes the Wnt signaling pathway in pancreatic endocrine cells. Mol Cancer Res *6*, 1894-1907.

Chen, W., Lam, S. S., Srinath, H., Schiffer, C. A., Royer, W. E., Jr., and Lin, K. (2007). Competition between Ski and CREB-binding protein for binding to Smad proteins in transforming growth factor-beta signaling. J Biol Chem *282*, 11365-11376.

Cui, W., Fowlis, D. J., Bryson, S., Duffie, E., Ireland, H., Balmain, A., and Akhurst, R. J. (1996). TGFbeta1 inhibits the formation of benign skin tumors, but enhances progression to invasive spindle carcinomas in transgenic mice. Cell *86*, 531-542.

De Robertis, E. M., and Kuroda, H. (2004). Dorsal-ventral patterning and neural induction in Xenopus embryos. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol *20*, 285-308.

Derynck, R., and Akhurst, R. J. (2007). Differentiation plasticity regulated by TGF-beta family proteins in development and disease. Nat Cell Biol *9*, 1000-1004.

Dickson, M. C., Martin, J. S., Cousins, F. M., Kulkarni, A. B., Karlsson, S., and Akhurst, R. J. (1995). Defective haematopoiesis and vasculogenesis in transforming growth factor-beta 1 knock out mice. Development *121*, 1845-1854.

Doherty, G. M. (2005). Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. J Surg Oncol 89, 143-150.

Dreijerink, K. M., Hoppener, J. W., Timmers, H. M., and Lips, C. J. (2006). Mechanisms of disease: multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1-relation to chromatin modifications and transcription regulation. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab *2*, 562-570.

Dreijerink, K. M., Lips, C. J., and Timmers, H. T. (2009). Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: a chromatin writer's block. J Intern Med *266*, 53-59.

Ebisawa, T., Fukuchi, M., Murakami, G., Chiba, T., Tanaka, K., Imamura, T., and Miyazono, K. (2001). Smurf1 interacts with transforming growth factor-beta type I receptor through Smad7 and induces receptor degradation. J Biol Chem *276*, 12477-12480.

Engle, S. J., Ormsby, I., Pawlowski, S., Boivin, G. P., Croft, J., Balish, E., and Doetschman, T. (2002). Elimination of colon cancer in germ-free transforming growth factor beta 1-deficient mice. Cancer Res *62*, 6362-6366.

Erdogan, M., Pozzi, A., Bhowmick, N., Moses, H. L., and Zent, R. (2008). Transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta) and TGF-beta-associated kinase 1 are required for R-Ras-mediated transformation of mammary epithelial cells. Cancer Res *68*, 6224-6231.

Esparza-Lopez, J., Montiel, J. L., Vilchis-Landeros, M. M., Okadome, T., Miyazono, K., and Lopez-Casillas, F. (2001). Ligand binding and functional properties of betaglycan, a co-receptor of the transforming growth factor-beta superfamily. Specialized binding regions for transforming growth factor-beta and inhibin A. J Biol Chem *276*, 14588-14596.

Feuerstein, J., Goody, R. S., and Wittinghofer, A. (1987). Preparation and characterization of nucleotide-free and metal ion-free p21 "apoprotein". J Biol Chem *262*, 8455-8458.

Fontaniere, S., Casse, H., Bertolino, P., and Zhang, C. X. (2006). Analysis of p27(Kip1) expression in insulinomas developed in pancreatic beta-cell specific Men1 mutant mice. Fam Cancer *5*, 49-54.

Friedman, E., Gold, L. I., Klimstra, D., Zeng, Z. S., Winawer, S., and Cohen, A. (1995). High levels of transforming growth factor beta 1 correlate with disease progression in human colon cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev *4*, 549-554.

Gobl, A. E., Berg, M., Lopez-Egido, J. R., Oberg, K., Skogseid, B., and Westin, G. (1999). Menin represses JunD-activated transcription by a histone deacetylase-dependent mechanism. Biochim Biophys Acta *1447*, 51-56.

Gomis, R. R., Alarcon, C., Nadal, C., Van Poznak, C., and Massague, J. (2006). C/EBPbeta at the core of the TGFbeta cytostatic response and its evasion in metastatic breast cancer cells. Cancer Cell *10*, 203-214.

Gorelik, L., and Flavell, R. A. (2000). Abrogation of TGFbeta signaling in T cells leads to spontaneous T cell differentiation and autoimmune disease. Immunity *12*, 171-181.

Groppe, J., Hinck, C. S., Samavarchi-Tehrani, P., Zubieta, C., Schuermann, J. P., Taylor, A. B., Schwarz, P. M., Wrana, J. L., and Hinck, A. P. (2008). Cooperative assembly of TGF-beta superfamily signaling complexes is mediated by two disparate mechanisms and distinct modes of receptor binding. Mol Cell *29*, 157-168.

Guasch, G., Schober, M., Pasolli, H. A., Conn, E. B., Polak, L., and Fuchs, E. (2007). Loss of TGFbeta signaling destabilizes homeostasis and promotes squamous cell carcinomas in stratified epithelia. Cancer Cell *12*, 313-327.

Guo, S. S., and Sawicki, M. P. (2001). Molecular and genetic mechanisms of tumorigenesis in multiple endocrine neoplasia type-1. Mol Endocrinol *15*, 1653-1664.

Guru, S. C., Goldsmith, P. K., Burns, A. L., Marx, S. J., Spiegel, A. M., Collins, F. S., and Chandrasekharappa, S. C. (1998). Menin, the product of the MEN1 gene, is a nuclear protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 1630-1634.

Gustavson, K. H., Jansson, R., and Oberg, K. (1983). Chromosomal breakage in multiple endocrine adenomatosis (types I and II). Clin Genet *23*, 143-149.

Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100, 57-70.

Hendy, G. N., Kaji, H., Sowa, H., Lebrun, J. J., and Canaff, L. (2005). Menin and TGF-beta superfamily member signaling via the Smad pathway in pituitary, parathyroid and osteoblast. Horm Metab Res *37*, 375-379.

Heppner, C., Bilimoria, K. Y., Agarwal, S. K., Kester, M., Whitty, L. J., Guru, S. C., Chandrasekharappa, S. C., Collins, F. S., Spiegel, A. M., Marx, S. J., and Burns, A. L. (2001). The tumor suppressor protein menin interacts with NF-kappaB proteins and inhibits NF-kappaBmediated transactivation. Oncogene *20*, 4917-4925.

Ho, J., Cocolakis, E., Dumas, V. M., Posner, B. I., Laporte, S. A., and Lebrun, J. J. (2005). The G protein-coupled receptor kinase-2 is a TGFbeta-inducible antagonist of TGFbeta signal transduction. EMBO J *24*, 3247-3258.

Hotulainen, P., and Lappalainen, P. (2006). Stress fibers are generated by two distinct actin assembly mechanisms in motile cells. J Cell Biol *173*, 383-394.

Hu, P. P., Datto, M. B., and Wang, X. F. (1998). Molecular mechanisms of transforming growth factor-beta signaling. Endocr Rev *19*, 349-363.

Huang, S. C., Zhuang, Z., Weil, R. J., Pack, S., Wang, C., Krutzsch, H. C., Pham, T. A., and Lubensky, I. A. (1999). Nuclear/cytoplasmic localization of the multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 gene product, menin. Lab Invest *79*, 301-310.

Hussein, N., Casse, H., Fontaniere, S., Morera, A. M., Asensio, M. J., Bakeli, S., Lu, J. L., Coste, I., Di Clemente, N., Bertolino, P., and Zhang, C. X. (2007). Reconstituted expression of menin in Men1-deficient mouse Leydig tumour cells induces cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. Eur J Cancer *43*, 402-414.

Jaffee, E. M., Hruban, R. H., Canto, M., and Kern, S. E. (2002). Focus on pancreas cancer. Cancer Cell 2, 25-28.

Jemal, A., Siegel, R., Ward, E., Hao, Y., Xu, J., Murray, T., and Thun, M. J. (2008). Cancer statistics, 2008. CA Cancer J Clin 58, 71-96.

Jenkins, G. (2008). The role of proteases in transforming growth factor-beta activation. Int J Biochem Cell Biol *40*, 1068-1078.

Ji, Y., Prasad, N. B., Novotny, E. A., Kaur, S., Elkahloun, A., Chen, Y., Zhang, R. Z., Chu, M. L., Agarwal, S. K., Marx, S. J., *et al.* (2007). Mouse embryo fibroblasts lacking the tumor suppressor menin show altered expression of extracellular matrix protein genes. Mol Cancer Res *5*, 1041-1051.

Jin, S., Mao, H., Schnepp, R. W., Sykes, S. M., Silva, A. C., D'Andrea, A. D., and Hua, X. (2003). Menin associates with FANCD2, a protein involved in repair of DNA damage. Cancer Res *63*, 4204-4210.

Jones, M., Sabatini, P. J., Lee, F. S., Bendeck, M. P., and Langille, B. L. (2002). N-cadherin upregulation and function in response of smooth muscle cells to arterial injury. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *22*, 1972-1977.

Kaji, H., Canaff, L., Goltzman, D., and Hendy, G. N. (1999). Cell cycle regulation of menin expression. Cancer Res 59, 5097-5101.

Kaji, H., Canaff, L., Lebrun, J. J., Goltzman, D., and Hendy, G. N. (2001). Inactivation of menin, a Smad3-interacting protein, blocks transforming growth factor type beta signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *98*, 3837-3842.

Kang, Y. (2006). Pro-metastasis function of TGFbeta mediated by the Smad pathway. J Cell Biochem *98*, 1380-1390.

Kang, Y., Chen, C. R., and Massague, J. (2003). A self-enabling TGFbeta response coupled to stress signaling: Smad engages stress response factor ATF3 for Id1 repression in epithelial cells. Mol Cell *11*, 915-926.

Karnik, S. K., Hughes, C. M., Gu, X., Rozenblatt-Rosen, O., McLean, G. W., Xiong, Y., Meyerson, M., and Kim, S. K. (2005). Menin regulates pancreatic islet growth by promoting histone methylation and expression of genes encoding p27Kip1 and p18INK4c. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 14659-14664.

Kavsak, P., Rasmussen, R. K., Causing, C. G., Bonni, S., Zhu, H., Thomsen, G. H., and Wrana, J. L. (2000). Smad7 binds to Smurf2 to form an E3 ubiquitin ligase that targets the TGF beta receptor for degradation. Mol Cell *6*, 1365-1375.

Knapp, J. I., Heppner, C., Hickman, A. B., Burns, A. L., Chandrasekharappa, S. C., Collins, F. S., Marx, S. J., Spiegel, A. M., and Agarwal, S. K. (2000). Identification and characterization of JunD missense mutants that lack menin binding. Oncogene *19*, 4706-4712.

Knudson, A. G., Jr. (1971). Mutation and cancer: statistical study of retinoblastoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *68*, 820-823.

Kryczek, I., Wei, S., Zou, L., Altuwaijri, S., Szeliga, W., Kolls, J., Chang, A., and Zou, W. (2007). Cutting edge: Th17 and regulatory T cell dynamics and the regulation by IL-2 in the tumor microenvironment. J Immunol *178*, 6730-6733.

Kurisaki, A., Kose, S., Yoneda, Y., Heldin, C. H., and Moustakas, A. (2001). Transforming growth factor-beta induces nuclear import of Smad3 in an importin-beta1 and Ran-dependent manner. Mol Biol Cell *12*, 1079-1091.

La, P., Silva, A. C., Hou, Z., Wang, H., Schnepp, R. W., Yan, N., Shi, Y., and Hua, X. (2004). Direct binding of DNA by tumor suppressor menin. J Biol Chem *279*, 49045-49054.

La, P., Yang, Y., Karnik, S. K., Silva, A. C., Schnepp, R. W., Kim, S. K., and Hua, X. (2007). Menin-mediated caspase 8 expression in suppressing multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. J Biol Chem *282*, 31332-31340.

Lacerte, A., Lee, E. H., Reynaud, R., Canaff, L., De Guise, C., Devost, D., Ali, S., Hendy, G. N., and Lebrun, J. J. (2004). Activin inhibits pituitary prolactin expression and cell growth through Smads, Pit-1 and menin. Mol Endocrinol *18*, 1558-1569.

Lander, E. S., Linton, L. M., Birren, B., Nusbaum, C., Zody, M. C., Baldwin, J., Devon, K., Dewar, K., Doyle, M., FitzHugh, W., *et al.* (2001). Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature *409*, 860-921.

Larsson, J., Goumans, M. J., Sjostrand, L. J., van Rooijen, M. A., Ward, D., Leveen, P., Xu, X., ten Dijke, P., Mummery, C. L., and Karlsson, S. (2001). Abnormal angiogenesis but intact hematopoietic potential in TGF-beta type I receptor-deficient mice. EMBO J *20*, 1663-1673.

Lebrun, J. J. (2009). Activin, TGF-beta and menin in pituitary tumorigenesis. Adv Exp Med Biol *668*, 69-78.

Lemmens, I., Van de Ven, W. J., Kas, K., Zhang, C. X., Giraud, S., Wautot, V., Buisson, N., De Witte, K., Salandre, J., Lenoir, G., *et al.* (1997). Identification of the multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1) gene. The European Consortium on MEN1. Hum Mol Genet *6*, 1177-1183.

Li, M. O., and Flavell, R. A. (2008). TGF-beta: a master of all T cell trades. Cell 134, 392-404.

Li, W., Qiao, W., Chen, L., Xu, X., Yang, X., Li, D., Li, C., Brodie, S. G., Meguid, M. M., Hennighausen, L., and Deng, C. X. (2003). Squamous cell carcinoma and mammary abscess

formation through squamous metaplasia in Smad4/Dpc4 conditional knockout mice. Development *130*, 6143-6153.

Loeys, B. L., Chen, J., Neptune, E. R., Judge, D. P., Podowski, M., Holm, T., Meyers, J., Leitch, C. C., Katsanis, N., Sharifi, N., *et al.* (2005). A syndrome of altered cardiovascular, craniofacial, neurocognitive and skeletal development caused by mutations in TGFBR1 or TGFBR2. Nat Genet *37*, 275-281.

Lopez-Egido, J., Cunningham, J., Berg, M., Oberg, K., Bongcam-Rudloff, E., and Gobl, A. (2002). Menin's interaction with glial fibrillary acidic protein and vimentin suggests a role for the intermediate filament network in regulating menin activity. Exp Cell Res *278*, 175-183.

Lu, T., Tian, L., Han, Y., Vogelbaum, M., and Stark, G. R. (2007). Dose-dependent cross-talk between the transforming growth factor-beta and interleukin-1 signaling pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 4365-4370.

MacConaill, L. E., Hughes, C. M., Rozenblatt-Rosen, O., Nannepaga, S., and Meyerson, M. (2006). Phosphorylation of the menin tumor suppressor protein on serine 543 and serine 583. Mol Cancer Res *4*, 793-801.

Maggio-Price, L., Treuting, P., Zeng, W., Tsang, M., Bielefeldt-Ohmann, H., and Iritani, B. M. (2006). Helicobacter infection is required for inflammation and colon cancer in SMAD3-deficient mice. Cancer Res *66*, 828-838.

Marx, S. J. (2005). Molecular genetics of multiple endocrine neoplasia types 1 and 2. Nat Rev Cancer *5*, 367-375.

Marx, S. J., Agarwal, S. K., Heppner, C., Kim, Y. S., Kester, M. B., Goldsmith, P. K., Skarulis, M. C., Spiegel, A. M., Burns, A. L., Debelenko, L. V., *et al.* (1999a). The gene for multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: recent findings. Bone *25*, 119-122.

Marx, S. J., Agarwal, S. K., Kester, M. B., Heppner, C., Kim, Y. S., Skarulis, M. C., James, L. A., Goldsmith, P. K., Saggar, S. K., Park, S. Y., *et al.* (1999b). Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: clinical and genetic features of the hereditary endocrine neoplasias. Recent Prog Horm Res *54*, 397-438; discussion 438-399.

Massague, J. (2008). TGFbeta in Cancer. Cell 134, 215-230.

Massague, J., Blain, S. W., and Lo, R. S. (2000). TGFbeta signaling in growth control, cancer, and heritable disorders. Cell *103*, 295-309.

Massague, J., Seoane, J., and Wotton, D. (2005). Smad transcription factors. Genes Dev 19, 2783-2810.

Milne, T. A., Hughes, C. M., Lloyd, R., Yang, Z., Rozenblatt-Rosen, O., Dou, Y., Schnepp, R. W., Krankel, C., Livolsi, V. A., Gibbs, D., *et al.* (2005). Menin and MLL cooperatively regulate expression of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 749-754.

Muraoka-Cook, R. S., Kurokawa, H., Koh, Y., Forbes, J. T., Roebuck, L. R., Barcellos-Hoff, M. H., Moody, S. E., Chodosh, L. A., and Arteaga, C. L. (2004). Conditional overexpression of active transforming growth factor beta1 in vivo accelerates metastases of transgenic mammary tumors. Cancer Res *64*, 9002-9011.

Naito, J., Kaji, H., Sowa, H., Hendy, G. N., Sugimoto, T., and Chihara, K. (2005). Menin suppresses osteoblast differentiation by antagonizing the AP-1 factor, JunD. J Biol Chem *280*, 4785-4791.

Namihira, H., Sato, M., Murao, K., Cao, W. M., Matsubara, S., Imachi, H., Niimi, M., Dobashi, H., Wong, N. C., and Ishida, T. (2002). The multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 gene product, menin, inhibits the human prolactin promoter activity. J Mol Endocrinol *29*, 297-304.

Nieman, M. T., Prudoff, R. S., Johnson, K. R., and Wheelock, M. J. (1999). N-cadherin promotes motility in human breast cancer cells regardless of their E-cadherin expression. J Cell Biol *147*, 631-644.

Nose, A., Nagafuchi, A., and Takeichi, M. (1988). Expressed recombinant cadherins mediate cell sorting in model systems. Cell 54, 993-1001.

Ohkura, N., Kishi, M., Tsukada, T., and Yamaguchi, K. (2001). Menin, a gene product responsible for multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1, interacts with the putative tumor metastasis suppressor nm23. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *282*, 1206-1210.

Oshima, M., Oshima, H., and Taketo, M. M. (1996). TGF-beta receptor type II deficiency results in defects of yolk sac hematopoiesis and vasculogenesis. Dev Biol *179*, 297-302.

Ozdamar, B., Bose, R., Barrios-Rodiles, M., Wang, H. R., Zhang, Y., and Wrana, J. L. (2005). Regulation of the polarity protein Par6 by TGFbeta receptors controls epithelial cell plasticity. Science *307*, 1603-1609.

Padua, D., and Massague, J. (2009). Roles of TGFbeta in metastasis. Cell Res 19, 89-102.

Padua, D., Zhang, X. H., Wang, Q., Nadal, C., Gerald, W. L., Gomis, R. R., and Massague, J. (2008). TGFbeta primes breast tumors for lung metastasis seeding through angiopoietin-like 4. Cell *133*, 66-77.

Papaconstantinou, M., Wu, Y., Pretorius, H. N., Singh, N., Gianfelice, G., Tanguay, R. M., Campos, A. R., and Bedard, P. A. (2005). Menin is a regulator of the stress response in Drosophila melanogaster. Mol Cell Biol *25*, 9960-9972.

Pepper, M. S. (1997). Transforming growth factor-beta: vasculogenesis, angiogenesis, and vessel wall integrity. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev *8*, 21-43.

Piecha, G., Chudek, J., and Wiecek, A. (2008). Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia type 1. Eur J Intern Med *19*, 99-103.

Pierreux, C. E., Nicolas, F. J., and Hill, C. S. (2000). Transforming growth factor betaindependent shuttling of Smad4 between the cytoplasm and nucleus. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 9041-9054.

Pinkas, J., and Teicher, B. A. (2006). TGF-beta in cancer and as a therapeutic target. Biochem Pharmacol 72, 523-529.

Poisson, A., Zablewska, B., and Gaudray, P. (2003). Menin interacting proteins as clues toward the understanding of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Cancer Lett *189*, 1-10.

Ratineau, C., Bernard, C., Poncet, G., Blanc, M., Josso, C., Fontaniere, S., Calender, A., Chayvialle, J. A., Zhang, C. X., and Roche, C. (2004). Reduction of menin expression enhances cell proliferation and is tumorigenic in intestinal epithelial cells. J Biol Chem *279*, 24477-24484.

Rifkin, D. B. (2005). Latent transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta) binding proteins: orchestrators of TGF-beta availability. J Biol Chem 280, 7409-7412.

Roberts, A. B., Anzano, M. A., Wakefield, L. M., Roche, N. S., Stern, D. F., and Sporn, M. B. (1985). Type beta transforming growth factor: a bifunctional regulator of cellular growth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *82*, 119-123.

Roberts, A. B., Lamb, L. C., Newton, D. L., Sporn, M. B., De Larco, J. E., and Todaro, G. J. (1980). Transforming growth factors: isolation of polypeptides from virally and chemically transformed cells by acid/ethanol extraction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *77*, 3494-3498.

Roberts, A. B., Sporn, M. B., Assoian, R. K., Smith, J. M., Roche, N. S., Wakefield, L. M., Heine, U. I., Liotta, L. A., Falanga, V., Kehrl, J. H., and et al. (1986). Transforming growth factor type beta: rapid induction of fibrosis and angiogenesis in vivo and stimulation of collagen formation in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *83*, 4167-4171.

Sakurai, A., Katai, M., Itakura, Y., Ikeo, Y., and Hashizume, K. (1999). Premature centromere division in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Cancer Genet Cytogenet *109*, 138-140.

Sayo, Y., Murao, K., Imachi, H., Cao, W. M., Sato, M., Dobashi, H., Wong, N. C., and Ishida, T. (2002). The multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 gene product, menin, inhibits insulin production in rat insulinoma cells. Endocrinology *143*, 2437-2440.

Scacheri, P. C., Davis, S., Odom, D. T., Crawford, G. E., Perkins, S., Halawi, M. J., Agarwal, S. K., Marx, S. J., Spiegel, A. M., Meltzer, P. S., and Collins, F. S. (2006). Genome-wide analysis of menin binding provides insights into MEN1 tumorigenesis. PLoS Genet 2, e51.

Scappaticci, S., Maraschio, P., del Ciotto, N., Fossati, G. S., Zonta, A., and Fraccaro, M. (1991). Chromosome abnormalities in lymphocytes and fibroblasts of subjects with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Cancer Genet Cytogenet *52*, 85-92.

Schmidt, C. E., Chen, T., and Lauffenburger, D. A. (1994). Simulation of integrin-cytoskeletal interactions in migrating fibroblasts. Biophys J *67*, 461-474.

Schnepp, R. W., Chen, Y. X., Wang, H., Cash, T., Silva, A., Diehl, J. A., Brown, E., and Hua, X. (2006). Mutation of tumor suppressor gene Men1 acutely enhances proliferation of pancreatic islet cells. Cancer Res *66*, 5707-5715.

Schnepp, R. W., Mao, H., Sykes, S. M., Zong, W. X., Silva, A., La, P., and Hua, X. (2004). Menin induces apoptosis in murine embryonic fibroblasts. J Biol Chem *279*, 10685-10691.

Sekelsky, J. J., Newfeld, S. J., Raftery, L. A., Chartoff, E. H., and Gelbart, W. M. (1995). Genetic characterization and cloning of mothers against dpp, a gene required for decapentaplegic function in Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics *139*, 1347-1358.

Sherr, C. J. (1996). Cancer cell cycles. Science 274, 1672-1677.

Shi, Y., and Massague, J. (2003). Mechanisms of TGF-beta signaling from cell membrane to the nucleus. Cell *113*, 685-700.

Siegel, P. M., and Massague, J. (2003). Cytostatic and apoptotic actions of TGF-beta in homeostasis and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer *3*, 807-821.

Siegel, P. M., Shu, W., Cardiff, R. D., Muller, W. J., and Massague, J. (2003). Transforming growth factor beta signaling impairs Neu-induced mammary tumorigenesis while promoting pulmonary metastasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 8430-8435.

Sowa, H., Kaji, H., Canaff, L., Hendy, G. N., Tsukamoto, T., Yamaguchi, T., Miyazono, K., Sugimoto, T., and Chihara, K. (2003). Inactivation of menin, the product of the multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 gene, inhibits the commitment of multipotential mesenchymal stem cells into the osteoblast lineage. J Biol Chem *278*, 21058-21069.

Sowa, H., Kaji, H., Kitazawa, R., Kitazawa, S., Tsukamoto, T., Yano, S., Tsukada, T., Canaff, L., Hendy, G. N., Sugimoto, T., and Chihara, K. (2004). Menin inactivation leads to loss of transforming growth factor beta inhibition of parathyroid cell proliferation and parathyroid hormone secretion. Cancer Res *64*, 2222-2228.

Sporn, M. B. (1999). TGF-beta: 20 years and counting. Microbes Infect 1, 1251-1253.

Stearns, M. E., Garcia, F. U., Fudge, K., Rhim, J., and Wang, M. (1999). Role of interleukin 10 and transforming growth factor beta1 in the angiogenesis and metastasis of human prostate primary tumor lines from orthotopic implants in severe combined immunodeficiency mice. Clin Cancer Res *5*, 711-720.

Steeg, P. S., Bevilacqua, G., Kopper, L., Thorgeirsson, U. P., Talmadge, J. E., Liotta, L. A., and Sobel, M. E. (1988). Evidence for a novel gene associated with low tumor metastatic potential. J Natl Cancer Inst *80*, 200-204.

Steinberg, M. S., and Takeichi, M. (1994). Experimental specification of cell sorting, tissue spreading, and specific spatial patterning by quantitative differences in cadherin expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *91*, 206-209.

Steiner, A. L., Goodman, A. D., and Powers, S. R. (1968). Study of a kindred with pheochromocytoma, medullary thyroid carcinoma, hyperparathyroidism and Cushing's disease: multiple endocrine neoplasia, type 2. Medicine (Baltimore) *47*, 371-409.

Sukhodolets, K. E., Hickman, A. B., Agarwal, S. K., Sukhodolets, M. V., Obungu, V. H., Novotny, E. A., Crabtree, J. S., Chandrasekharappa, S. C., Collins, F. S., Spiegel, A. M., *et al.* (2003). The 32-kilodalton subunit of replication protein A interacts with menin, the product of the MEN1 tumor suppressor gene. Mol Cell Biol *23*, 493-509.

Suphapeetiporn, K., Greally, J. M., Walpita, D., Ashley, T., and Bale, A. E. (2002). MEN1 tumor-suppressor protein localizes to telomeres during meiosis. Genes Chromosomes Cancer *35*, 81-85.

Takaku, K., Oshima, M., Miyoshi, H., Matsui, M., Seldin, M. F., and Taketo, M. M. (1998). Intestinal tumorigenesis in compound mutant mice of both Dpc4 (Smad4) and Apc genes. Cell *92*, 645-656.

ten Dijke, P., Miyazono, K., and Heldin, C. H. (2000). Signaling inputs converge on nuclear effectors in TGF-beta signaling. Trends Biochem Sci 25, 64-70.

Thiery, J. P. (2003). Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in development and pathologies. Curr Opin Cell Biol *15*, 740-746.

Thomas, D. A., and Massague, J. (2005). TGF-beta directly targets cytotoxic T cell functions during tumor evasion of immune surveillance. Cancer Cell *8*, 369-380.

Tsukada, T., Yamaguchi, K., and Kameya, T. (2001). The MEN1 gene and associated diseases: an update. Endocr Pathol *12*, 259-273.

Tsukazaki, T., Chiang, T. A., Davison, A. F., Attisano, L., and Wrana, J. L. (1998). SARA, a FYVE domain protein that recruits Smad2 to the TGFbeta receptor. Cell *95*, 779-791.

Tucker, R. F., Shipley, G. D., Moses, H. L., and Holley, R. W. (1984). Growth inhibitor from BSC-1 cells closely related to platelet type beta transforming growth factor. Science *226*, 705-707.

Valderrama-Carvajal, H., Cocolakis, E., Lacerte, A., Lee, E. H., Krystal, G., Ali, S., and Lebrun, J. J. (2002). Activin/TGF-beta induce apoptosis through Smad-dependent expression of the lipid phosphatase SHIP. Nat Cell Biol *4*, 963-969.

Varfolomeev, E. E., Schuchmann, M., Luria, V., Chiannilkulchai, N., Beckmann, J. S., Mett, I. L., Rebrikov, D., Brodianski, V. M., Kemper, O. C., Kollet, O., *et al.* (1998). Targeted disruption of the mouse Caspase 8 gene ablates cell death induction by the TNF receptors, Fas/Apo1, and DR3 and is lethal prenatally. Immunity *9*, 267-276.

Vincent-Salomon, A., and Thiery, J. P. (2003). Host microenvironment in breast cancer development: epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer development. Breast Cancer Res *5*, 101-106.

Watanabe, M., Masuyama, N., Fukuda, M., and Nishida, E. (2000). Regulation of intracellular dynamics of Smad4 by its leucine-rich nuclear export signal. EMBO Rep *1*, 176-182.

Watanabe, T., Wu, T. T., Catalano, P. J., Ueki, T., Satriano, R., Haller, D. G., Benson, A. B., 3rd, and Hamilton, S. R. (2001). Molecular predictors of survival after adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer. N Engl J Med *344*, 1196-1206.

Wautot, V., Vercherat, C., Lespinasse, J., Chambe, B., Lenoir, G. M., Zhang, C. X., Porchet, N., Cordier, M., Beroud, C., and Calender, A. (2002). Germline mutation profile of MEN1 in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: search for correlation between phenotype and the functional domains of the MEN1 protein. Hum Mutat *20*, 35-47.

White, M. L., and Doherty, G. M. (2008). Multiple endocrine neoplasia. Surg Oncol Clin N Am *17*, 439-459, x.

Wrana, J. L., and Attisano, L. (2000). The Smad pathway. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 11, 5-13.

Wrana, J. L., Attisano, L., Carcamo, J., Zentella, A., Doody, J., Laiho, M., Wang, X. F., and Massague, J. (1992). TGF beta signals through a heteromeric protein kinase receptor complex. Cell *71*, 1003-1014.

Wrzesinski, S. H., Wan, Y. Y., and Flavell, R. A. (2007). Transforming growth factor-beta and the immune response: implications for anticancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res *13*, 5262-5270.

Xie, L., Law, B. K., Aakre, M. E., Edgerton, M., Shyr, Y., Bhowmick, N. A., and Moses, H. L. (2003). Transforming growth factor beta-regulated gene expression in a mouse mammary gland epithelial cell line. Breast Cancer Res *5*, R187-198.

Xu, J., Lamouille, S., and Derynck, R. (2009). TGF-beta-induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition. Cell Res *19*, 156-172.

Yaguchi, H., Ohkura, N., Tsukada, T., and Yamaguchi, K. (2002). Menin, the multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 gene product, exhibits GTP-hydrolyzing activity in the presence of the tumor metastasis suppressor nm23. J Biol Chem 277, 38197-38204.

Yan, Z., Kim, G. Y., Deng, X., and Friedman, E. (2002). Transforming growth factor beta 1 induces proliferation in colon carcinoma cells by Ras-dependent, smad-independent down-regulation of p21cip1. J Biol Chem *277*, 9870-9879.

Yang, L., Huang, J., Ren, X., Gorska, A. E., Chytil, A., Aakre, M., Carbone, D. P., Matrisian, L. M., Richmond, A., Lin, P. C., and Moses, H. L. (2008). Abrogation of TGF beta signaling in mammary carcinomas recruits Gr-1+CD11b+ myeloid cells that promote metastasis. Cancer Cell *13*, 23-35.

Yang, Y., and Hua, X. (2007). In search of tumor suppressing functions of menin. Mol Cell Endocrinol *265-266*, 34-41.

Yang, Z., Mu, Z., Dabovic, B., Jurukovski, V., Yu, D., Sung, J., Xiong, X., and Munger, J. S. (2007). Absence of integrin-mediated TGFbeta1 activation in vivo recapitulates the phenotype of TGFbeta1-null mice. J Cell Biol *176*, 787-793.

Yin, J. J., Selander, K., Chirgwin, J. M., Dallas, M., Grubbs, B. G., Wieser, R., Massague, J., Mundy, G. R., and Guise, T. A. (1999). TGF-beta signaling blockade inhibits PTHrP secretion by breast cancer cells and bone metastases development. J Clin Invest *103*, 197-206.

Yingling, J. M., Blanchard, K. L., and Sawyer, J. S. (2004). Development of TGF-beta signalling inhibitors for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Drug Discov *3*, 1011-1022.

Yokoyama, A., and Cleary, M. L. (2008). Menin critically links MLL proteins with LEDGF on cancer-associated target genes. Cancer Cell 14, 36-46.
Zablewska, B., Bylund, L., Mandic, S. A., Fromaget, M., Gaudray, P., and Weber, G. (2003). Transcription regulation of the multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 gene in human and mouse. J Clin Endocrinol Metab *88*, 3845-3851.

Zhang, F., Lee, J., Lu, S., Pettaway, C. A., and Dong, Z. (2005). Blockade of transforming growth factor-beta signaling suppresses progression of androgen-independent human prostate cancer in nude mice. Clin Cancer Res *11*, 4512-4520.

Zhang, Y., and Derynck, R. (1999). Regulation of Smad signalling by protein associations and signalling crosstalk. Trends Cell Biol *9*, 274-279.

Zhu, H., Kavsak, P., Abdollah, S., Wrana, J. L., and Thomsen, G. H. (1999). A SMAD ubiquitin ligase targets the BMP pathway and affects embryonic pattern formation. Nature *400*, 687-693.